

2002

Annual report on the state of the drugs problem in the European Union and Norway

> E.M.C.D.D.A. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction

Legal notice

This publication of the European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA) is protected by copyright. The EMCDDA accepts no responsibility or liability for any consequences arising from the use of the data contained in this document. Unless indicated otherwise, this publication, including any recommendations or statements of opinion herein, does not represent the policy of the EMCDDA, its partners, any EU Member State or any agency or institution of the European Union or European Communities.

A great deal of additional information on the European Union is available on the Internet. It can be accessed through the Europa server (http://europa.eu.int).

This report is available in Danish, Dutch, English, Finnish, French, German, Greek, Italian, Portuguese, Spanish, Swedish and Norwegian. All translations were made by the Translation Centre for Bodies of the European Union.

Cataloguing data can be found at the end of this publication. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2002 ISBN 92-9168-129-6 © European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction, 2002 Reproduction is authorised provided the source is acknowledged.

Printed in Italy



Rua da Cruz de Santa Apolónia, 23–25 P-1149-045 Lisboa Tel. (351) 218 11 30 00 Fax (351) 218 13 17 11 E-mail: info@emcdda.eu.int Web site: http://www.emcdda.eu.int

Contents

Acknowledgements	4
Preface	5
Overview	7
CHAPTER 1	11
Drug situation	11
Drug use in the general population	11
Problem drug use	14
Demand for treatment	15
Drug-related infectious diseases	18
Drug-related deaths and mortality among drug users	22
Drug-related crime	24
Drug markets and availability	26
CHAPTER 2	29
Responses to drug use	29
National and European drug strategies	29
Demand reduction	31
Supply reduction	36
CHAPTER 3	39
Selected issues	39
Polvdrug use	39
Successful treatment	44
Drug use in prison	46
Reitox focal points	55

Acknowledgements

The EMCDDA would like to thank the following for their help in producing this report:

- the heads of the Reitox national focal points and their staff;
- the services within each Member State that collected the raw data for this report;
- the members of the Management Board and the Scientific Committee of the EMCDDA;
- the European Parliament, the Council of the European Union in particular its Horizontal Working Party on Drugs and the European Commission;
- the Pompidou Group of the Council of Europe, the United Nations International Drug Control Programme, the World Health Organisation, Europol, Interpol, the World Customs Organisation and the Centre for the Epidemiological Monitoring of AIDS;
- the Translation Centre for Bodies of the European Union and the Office for Official Publications of the European Communities.

Preface

In our 2002 Annual report, we show that it is difficult to capture 'the European drug problem' in one statement, as it presents a very diverse picture. Trends and levels of illicit drug use differ between countries and regions, as well as between its different aspects and consequences. Looking solely at national averages may mask strongly diverging trends at regional or local level. However, where increases are still noted in some indicators in some countries or regions, the general picture seems now more similar to a stable 'endemic' situation, with constant recruitment and exit rates. This is contrary to the situation in the 1980s and first half of the 1990s, when many countries in the European Union experienced extreme and epidemic rises in drug use and related problems.

The long-time reported increases in cannabis use show signs of stabilisation in some countries, although at markedly different levels, while cannabis and cocaine problems may now be increasing. For problem drug use, 7 out of 15 countries have adjusted their estimates upwards, suggesting some increase although at the same time most countries report a relative stability. Overall, HIV prevalence seems stable; however, levels differ strongly between countries and important increases are found in some regions and subgroups of injectors. The number of acute drug-related deaths seems now to have reached a plateau, but trends are divergent between countries. Prices of most drugs seem generally stable or decreasing.

Yet, even if 'the drug problem' in the European Union seems now to have become an established phenomenon, there is clearly no room for complacency. There are an estimated two to nine problem drug users per 1 000 of the population aged 15 to 64. In some areas, over 25 % of injecting drug users are infected with HIV, and HCV prevalence continues to be extremely high (40 to 90 %). Between 7 000 and 8 000 acute drugrelated deaths occur every year, and, worryingly, increases are seen in some countries where trends were previously stable or decreasing. Risk of death is up to 20 times higher among opiate users than in their non-drug using peers of the same age. The number of clients in treatment has increased and even if treatment facilities are also expanding, they are still clearly not sufficient, especially in prisons. It is therefore paramount that the political effort put into tackling the drug problem is continued and even stepped up.

We do note more consensus about the measures to address some of the principal problems, and evidence

on their effectiveness is increasing. For example, the value of low-threshold services and the importance of access to sterile injecting equipment to reduce bloodborne infections are widely acknowledged. The protective effect of methadone maintenance on mortality and morbidity, the additional value of voluntary drug-free treatment and the role of medically-assisted treatment in reducing illegal drug consumption, risky behaviour and crime are now broadly recognised.

The widespread recognition of the value of these measures is a contributing factor, perhaps, to the relative convergence of public policy in the areas of prevention and treatment in the European Union. We must bear in mind that this convergence, taking place especially in the social and health areas, is occurring in a nonuniform way across countries — for example, the distribution of syringes is much more developed in some countries than in others. The approach is also not necessarily consistent within a country — substitution treatment may be widely available in treatment centres, for example, but much less so in prisons.

Nevertheless, national political and legislative approaches are increasingly promoting similar social and public health measures. In many countries, prominent developments in the legislative area include moves to target substances regardless of their legal status, to widen the distinction between drug users and drug-law offenders, to reduce or remove penalties for personal use or possession of cannabis and to strengthen the legal framework for substitution treatment. Focus in the prevention area has turned to assuring the quality of interventions through introducing national standards and accreditation procedures.

The growing consensus in the European Union clearly points towards greater efficiency and effectiveness in continuing the fight against drug problems, by reducing morbidity, mortality, stigma and social exclusion among problem users, while giving truthful information about potential risks to non-problematic users. It also represents a stronger and united response to the great priority European citizens have given to addressing the drug problem. I trust that this 2002 Annual report will make an important contribution towards establishing an evidence base for sound policy-making and strategic planning, both at national and local as at the European level.

> Georges Estievenart Executive Director

Overview

Drug situation

Drug use in the general population

- Use of illegal substances is concentrated among young adults and particularly males in urban areas, although some spreading to smaller towns and rural areas may be taking place.
- Recent cannabis use (last 12 months) was reported by 5 to 15 % of young adults in most countries. Recent amphetamine use was reported by 0.5 to 6 %, cocaine use by 0.5 to 3.5 %, and ecstasy use by 0.5 to 5 %.
- Lifetime experience of cannabis is reported by 10 to 30 % of European adults, while amphetamines, cocaine and ecstasy have been tried by about 1 to 5 %.
- Cannabis use increased markedly during the 1990s in most EU countries, particularly among young people, although in recent years its use may be levelling off in some countries. Cocaine use may have increased in recent years in some countries, although this trend is less clear.

Problem drug use

- In general, levels of problem drug use seem stable, although some countries do report changes in estimates which taken together suggest increases of problem drug use since 1996.
- Possible increases at national level are reported from Belgium and Norway (data available only for injectors), Germany, Italy, Luxembourg, Sweden and the United Kingdom.
- Estimates of problem drug use are all between two and nine cases per 1 000 population aged 15 to 64.

• Estimates of injecting drug use are in general between two and five cases per 1 000 population aged 15 to 64.

Treatment demand

- Countries report an increase in the number of clients in treatment.
- Opiates remain the main substance for clients seeking treatment, followed by cannabis, cocaine and amphetamines. Many differences are found among countries.
- Trends per drug among new clients entering treatment show that the number of heroin users remains stable or decreasing, and cannabis users are increasing in some countries (Germany, Denmark). The number of cocaine clients rising in number until last year now seems stable.
- The main routes of administration among new clients are injecting for heroin (45.9 %), sniffing for cocaine (47.1 %), eating/drinking for stimulants (56.4 %).
- The social conditions for drug users are worse than in the general population of the same age, namely higher unemployment rates and lower levels of education.

Drug-related infectious diseases

- Levels of HIV infection roughly vary from 1 % in the United Kingdom to 34 % in Spain but in general they are stable.
- HIV prevalence was over 25 % among injecting drug users (IDUs) routinely tested in drug treatment in the Italian regions of Emilia-Romagna, Lombardy and Sardinia, in France, in Lisbon and Porto in Portugal, and in Spain.

- Increases in HIV transmission (in subgroups of IDUs) may have occurred in regions or cities in Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands, Portugal and Finland.
- HCV prevalence is extremely high in all countries and settings, with infection rates of between 40 and 90 % among different subgroups of IDUs.

Drug-related deaths

- In all, 7 000 to 8 000 acute drug-related deaths are reported each year in the EU, and the real number of cases is probably higher. Opiates are present in most overdose deaths, although presence of additional substances is frequent.
- There is a relatively stable trend at EU level, although with divergent national trends. However, it is worrying that some EU countries report recent new increases after a period of stabilisation or decrease.
- Mortality of opiate users, in particular injectors, is up to 20 times higher than the general population of the same age, due to overdoses, infectious diseases, accidents, suicides, etc.

Drug-related crime

- In all countries except Norway, the Netherlands, Italy and Spain — drug law offences reported by the police continue to concern mainly drug use/possession.
- According to prisons and countries, between 29 and 86 % (over 50 % in most studies) of prisoners report having ever used an illicit drug.
- Though most drug users tend to stop or reduce their drug use after imprisonment due to the low availability of illicit drugs, some continue to use drugs, and others commence once incarcerated.

Drug markets and availability

- Cannabis is the most seized drug in all countries except Portugal (heroin). In 2000, quantities seized went down in most of the Member States.
- At EU level, the number of seizures of cannabis and ecstasy continued to increase in 2000, while they decreased for heroin, cocaine and amphetamines.
- In 2000, a marked decrease in the quantities of cocaine seized was reported — mainly due to high decreases in countries seizing most of the cocaine in the EU (Spain, France, the Netherlands).
- The price of all illicit drugs is generally stable or decreasing in the EU, although some increases were reported regarding brown heroin.

Responses to drug use

National strategies

- The recent tendency to produce strategic responses to the drugs situation continues. Objectives and targets are better identified than in the past. Implementation and evaluation are now the main challenges for national drug strategies.
- Increased attention is given to prevention and treatment activities regarding alcohol and tobacco. Strategies tend to target the substances causing addiction regardless of their legal status.

National legislation

- There is a trend to widen the distinction between drug users and other drug law offenders, either through legal or policy distinctions, or by establishing a more specialised court system, or both.
- At the same time, a number of countries have chosen to reduce or remove penalties for personal use or possession of cannabis, distinct from other substances.
- New legislation on drugs in road traffic specifies individuals and methods for testing, and may improve statistical collection to serve as a scientific base for future legislation on the topic.
- National legal frameworks for substitution treatment are being established or strengthened.

Demand reduction

- All national drug strategies include priorities in the field of responses. School prevention is seen as a priority in ten Member States, prevention and early intervention for young people at risk in nine, and responses in the criminal-justice system in seven. Eight countries see a need to strengthen treatment structures.
- The quality of demand-reduction responses is assured with the introduction in some countries of national standards, accreditation procedures or guidelines.

Prevention in schools, local settings and the community

- All Member States stress the high priority of prevention and report numerous preventive activities in different settings, at schools most notably. However, there is a substantial gap between policy aims and the reality and quality of prevention.
- Objectives for school prevention range from allinclusive health promotion principles, the develop-

ment of social/personal skills to the promotion of identity/personality. Awareness and information are often prominent, although such approaches alone have proven ineffective.

• Wide disparities exist between Member States concerning the role of mass media in prevention strategies — from none at all to very prominent.

Prevention in recreational settings

- Prevention in recreational settings is based on three intervention strategies: the production of information material on drugs; personalised interventions in discotheques or raves; and structural measures such as safe-clubbing guidelines.
- The value of on-site pill testing interventions for intense interactive preventive counselling has been overshadowed by discussions focusing on questions of its pharmacological accuracy and its legal implications.

Prevention of infectious diseases

- Evidence-based responses to prevent infectious diseases among drug users are hepatitis immunisation, drug treatment in particular the prescription of substitution drugs community-based outreach, access to sterile injection equipment and safer use information and training.
- Access to sterile injecting equipment is of major importance for minimising the rate of HIV and other blood-borne viral infections. Even though syringe exchange programmes have become more widely available, the coverage of the target population shows large differences between and within countries.
- Hepatitis immunisation rates among drug users are very low. Systematic efforts are underway in some countries to make the vaccination more accessible.

Prevention of drug-related deaths

- A significant proportion of overdoses could be avoided.
- Methadone maintenance has a substantial protective effect on mortality from opioid overdose.
- Innovative approaches to preventing and managing overdoses are reported from some countries — such as the training of drug users to protect themselves and to better manage overdoses they witness, naloxone administration training as well as basic resuscitation techniques, or the development of specific prevention information materials.

Availability of treatment facilities

- The past five years have seen a considerable increase in the availability of treatment facilities in the EU and Norway. Medically-assisted treatment appears to have grown more rapidly than drug-free treatment.
- Evaluations of drug-free treatment interventions have shown that it is effective. Evaluation results fluctuate, but generally 30 to 50 % of clients entering drug-free treatment complete it successfully.
- Medically-assisted treatment with methadone or buprenorphine has proved effective in reducing the consumption of illegal drugs, risk behaviour and crime. Sufficient dosages have shown to be imperative to ensuring positive outcomes. Accompanying psycho-social interventions contribute to success, but are still underdeveloped.

Criminal-justice responses

- Judicial authorities in EU countries dispose of a range of measures at different stages of the criminal-justice system to divert into treatment drug users who have committed a criminal offence.
- Most EU countries have abstinence-oriented treatment programmes and/or drug-free units inside prisons. However, the number of places is, compared to the estimated number of prisoners with drug problems, low.
- Substitution treatment is now available in prisons in almost all EU countries and in Norway. However, even in countries where a large percentage of problem drug users in the community are in substitution treatment, prisons often follow a detoxification policy.
- There is evidence for the need for 'stepped care' arrangements/continuous treatment to reduce recidivism among drug using offenders.
- There is an increasing effort to document and evaluate other criminal-justice system responses, but there is not much scientific evidence (yet).

Supply reduction

- Combating organised drug trafficking is a priority for Member States through the improvement of database systems and crime analysis techniques, together with increased development of international cooperation.
- Fighting against the diversion of chemical products and precursors under control is an important part of

2002 Annual report on the state of the drugs problem in the European Union and Norway

the increased international cooperation. Additional resources to guarantee an adequate level of surveillance are required. • International customs cooperation and the activities of the OECD Financial Action Task Force (FATF) play a very important role in measures against money laundering.

Chapter

1

Drug situation

This chapter provides an overview of the situation of drug use and supply in the EU and Norway and highlights recent developments and emerging trends.

Drug use in the general population (1)

Population surveys provide estimates of the proportion of the population who have used different drugs during certain periods of time, in addition to providing information on the behaviour and characteristics of respondents. For illegal drugs, the more usual measures are:

- any use during the person's life (lifetime prevalence), often called 'lifetime experience' with drugs;
- any use during the previous year (last-12-months prevalence), often called 'recent use' of drugs; and
- any use during the previous month (last-30-days prevalence), often called 'current use' of drugs.

'Lifetime experience' always produces higher figures, and is widely used in reports and assessments of a country's drug situation. However, lifetime experience alone does not capture well the current situation as it also includes all those who have ever tried drugs, whether once or a few times many years ago.

'Recent use' produces lower figures, but reflects better the current situation. The combination of lifetime experience and recent use can give basic information on drug use patterns (e.g. continuation rates). 'Current use' may give some indication of regular use, but figures are generally quite low when the whole population is considered. Many surveys investigate the age of the onset of drug use and the frequency of use, which allow estimations of incidence and patterns of use. Other individual variables (sociodemographic variables, opinions and risk perceptions, lifestyles, health problems, etc.) can help to establish correlations between use and other individual factors.

Age ranges used to report results may have an important influence in prevalence estimates. Comparisons should be based on the same age groups. The EMCDDA recommends the age range of 15–64 years for the whole adult population and 15–34 years for young adults but there are still small national differences in the data reported.

Patterns of drug use

Basic common and divergent patterns of drug use can be identified across EU Member States, despite the methodological limitations.

Cannabis continues to be the illegal substance most commonly used in all EU countries. Lifetime experience is much more common than recent or current use, indicating that use tends to be occasional or to be discontinued after some time. There is a small proportion of users that consume the substance daily, and particular attention should be paid to this group.

Substances other than cannabis are used by much smaller proportions of the population, although there are considerable differences between countries. In this case, too, lifetime experience is clearly higher than recent use $(^{2})(^{3})$.

⁽¹⁾ The methods used to estimate drug use in the general population are explained online (http://annualreport.emcdda.eu.int).

⁽²⁾ Figure 1 OL: Patterns of drug use among the general population (online version). Cannabis use as example: lifetime experience versus current use (last 30 days) in Dutch national survey 1997.

⁽³⁾ Figure 2 OL: Continuation rates for some substances in recent European population surveys, among the whole adult population (online version).

2002 Annual report on the state of the drugs problem in the European Union and Norway

Use of illegal substances is concentrated among young adults, who have prevalence rates roughly double that of all adults. Males outnumber women among people who have tried drugs in all countries and all age groups, although these differences tend to decrease in younger groups ⁽⁴⁾. Drug use is more prevalent in urban areas, although some spread to smaller towns and rural areas may be taking place.

Lifetime experience of cannabis is reported to range from 10 % (Finland) to 25 to 30 % (Denmark and the United Kingdom) of the whole adult population, with a substantial number of countries reporting figures of around 20 % (Belgium, Germany, Spain, France, Ireland and the Netherlands). Amphetamines have been tried by 1 to 6 % of the population (11 % in the United Kingdom), cocaine and ecstasy have been tried each by about 0.5 to 4.5 % of the population. Heroin has been tried generally by less than 1 % of the population, although by up to 2 to 3 % of young males of some countries. As a reference outside Europe, in the 2000 US household survey, 34 % of adults (12 years and older) reported lifetime experience of cannabis and 11 % of cocaine (⁵).

Recent use of cannabis is reported from 1 to 10 % of all adults, although most countries that have information report levels of between 5 and 10 %. Recent use of amphetamines, cocaine or ecstasy was reported in general by less than 1 % of adults, although Ireland and the United Kingdom have somewhat higher figures for the three substances, together with Denmark and Norway for amphetamines and Spain for cocaine. In the 2000 US household survey, 8.3 % of adults (12 years and older) reported recent use (past year) of cannabis and 1.5 % of cocaine.

Young adults report clearly higher rates of recent drug use. In most countries, recent cannabis use was reported by 5 to 18 % of young adults (Sweden 1 to 2 %). Recent amphetamine use was reported by 0.5 to 6 %, cocaine use by 0.5 to 3.5 % and ecstasy use by 0.5 to 5 % (⁶).

- (4) Figure 3 OL: Gender differences in drug use (recent use, last 12 months), reported in general population surveys of European countries (online version).
- (⁵) Source: SAMHSA, Office of Applied Studies, National household survey on drug abuse, 1999 and 2000 (http://www.samhsa.gov/oas/oas.html). Note that the age range (12 years and over) is wider than the age range reported by the EMCDDA for EU surveys (15–64 years).
- (6) Figure 4 OL: Recent use (last 12 months) of amphetamines, ecstasy and cocaine among young adults in European countries, measured by national population surveys (online version).







- For young adults, the ENULDUA uses the range 15–34 years (Demmark and the United Kingdom from 16, Germany and Ireland from 18). Variations in age ranges may slightly influence some national differences. In some countries, the figures were recalculated at national level to adapt as far as possible to the standard EMCDDA age group.
- ources: Reitox national reports 2001, taken from scientific surveys, reports or articles. See also the standard epidemiological table 'Last-12-months prevalence of drug use in recent nationwide surveys among the general population in some EU countries' (http://annualreport.emcdda.eu.int).

Drug situation

In addition to real differences in drug use, several factors can contribute to differences in national figures. Overall national figures can be explained in part by generational factors, including the convergence between the lifestyles of males and females. Shares of urban population in each country may explain in part some overall national figures. Comparative analysis and policy formulation and evaluation should take into consideration precise age groups, gender and urbanisation, among other criteria (⁷)(⁸).

Trends in drug use among the general population

It is difficult to define clear-cut trends that apply to the EU as a whole, due to the limitations of information sources (few consistent series) and the differences in national social/cultural context and development. Lifetime experience should be used with caution when analysing trends, since it is an accumulative measure that will not decrease for a long time, even if current drug use decreases.

National and local population surveys, as well as conscript and school surveys, show that cannabis use increased markedly during the 1990s in almost all EU countries, particularly among young people. At the same time, some convergence in cannabis use can be suggested across countries, with a significant number of countries reporting around 20 to 25 % of lifetime experience and 5 to 10 % of recent use.

In more recent years, cannabis use seems to be levelling off or even decreasing in some countries (Ireland, the Netherlands, Finland and Norway) among young people, conscripts or school students. However, increases continue in other countries.

European trends in other substances (e.g. cocaine, ecstasy and amphetamines) are more difficult to track, which underlines the need to maintain consistent series of surveys with appropriate sample sizes.

There has been growing concern about possible increases in cocaine use in the EU, due to increases of cocaine problems reported in some countries. Increase of recent cocaine use seems consistent among young people in the United Kingdom and, possibly to a lesser extent, in Denmark, Germany and Greece. In Spain, France and Finland, no increase is apparent among young adults, although in Spain figures are comparatively high and a consistent increase among students has been observed (Figure 3).







NB: Data taken from national surveys, available in each country. For young adults, the EMCDDA uses the range 15–34 years (Denmark and UK from 16, Germany and Ireland from 18, France (1992: 25–34 and 1995: 18–39)).
(¹) Although not presented in the graphic, information from Denmark and Greece sug-

See http://annualreport.emcdda.eu.int for statistical tables related to this section:

- Lifetime prevalence (LTP) of drug use in recent nationwide surveys among the general population in some EU countries
- Last-12-months prevalence (LYP) of drug use in recent nationwide surveys among the general population in some EU countries
- School surveys: lifetime prevalence among students, 15–16 years of age

gests some increases. Sources: Reitox national reports 2001 taken from scientific surveys reports or articles. See

also the standard eppidemiological table 'Last-12-months prevalence of drug use in recent nationwide surveys among the general population in some EU countries' (http://annualreport.emcdda.eu.int).

⁽⁷⁾ Figure 5 OL: How to look at different figures on drug use between countries — An example using Denmark and France (online version).

^{(&}lt;sup>8)</sup> Figure 6 OL: Recent cannabis use (last 12 months) by age group in European countries, measured by population surveys — Recent cocaine use (last 12 months) by age group in European countries, measured by population surveys (online version).

Drug use among young people

Only five Member States made data available from school surveys during 2000 concerning school students aged 15–16 years. Sweden showed an increase in cannabis use and Italy showed an increase in cannabis, ecstasy and cocaine. The other three Member States showed either stable or declining prevalence of drug use in this age group.

A number of Member States conduct surveys of young people above the 15–16 age range and outside of the school environment. School surveys across age ranges show that lifetime drug prevalence increases considerably with age, although the level of increase varies between countries. Compared with general population surveys, young people in nightlife and club settings also show much higher average prevalence for recreational drug use; ecstasy in particular. (See Figure 4, which should be interpreted with caution as the targeted surveys are not strictly comparable.)



No. - Mr tageto survey in Jange NO-300.
Sources: Athens: Calafat, A., Bohm, K., Juan, M., Kokkevi, A., Maalsté, N., Mendes, F., Palmer, A., Sherlock, K., Simon, J., Stocco, P., Sureda, M. P., Tossmann, P., van de Wijngaart, G. and Zavatti, P. (1999): Night life in Europe and recreative drug use, Irefrea and European Commission, Valencia.
Amsterdam: Korf, D. J., Nabben, T., Lettink, D. and Bouma, H. (1999): Antenne 1998. Trends in alcohol, tabak, drugs en gokken bij jonge Amsterdammers, Jellinek, Amsterdam

Irends in alcohol, tabak, drugs en gokken bij jonge Amsterdammers, Jellinek, Amste dam. France: Médecins du Monde (1999): Techno rave parties.

London: Release (1997): Release drugs and dance survey: an insight into the culture, Release, London.

Problem drug use

Problem drug use is defined as 'injecting drug use or long-duration/regular use of opiates, cocaine and/or amphetamines' (⁹).

In general, levels of problem drug use seem stable, although, with the current estimation methods, data quality and data availability, it is still not possible to reliably calculate trends in the prevalence of problem drug use in most countries.

However, some countries do report changes in estimates and/or other indicator data, which taken together suggest increases in problem use since 1996. Possible increases at national level are reported from Belgium and Norway (data available only for injectors), Germany, Italy, Luxembourg, Sweden and the United Kingdom, while increases at local or regional level are reported from some other countries (¹⁰).

Estimates of problem drug use are all between two and nine cases per 1 000 of the population aged 15–64 (this is using the midpoints of the estimates). The highest estimates are reported for Italy, Luxembourg, Portugal and the United Kingdom, with between six and nine problem drug users per 1 000 inhabitants aged 15–64. Estimates are lowest in Austria, Germany and the Netherlands, with about three problem drug users per 1 000 inhabitants aged 15–64. Data are not available from Belgium, Greece and Norway (see Figure 5).

In Finland and Sweden, the majority of problem drug users are primary amphetamine users (an estimated 70 to 80 % in Finland in 1997). This is contrary to other countries where problem drug users are mostly primary opiate users (and at the same time polydrug users).

This year, separate estimates are given for injecting drug use, a subcategory of all problem drug use. The increased quality of the estimates based on mortality data and HIV data enables them to be presented separately from problem drug use. Estimates of injecting drug use are in general between two and five cases per 1 000 of the population aged 15–64, but data are not available for six Member States. The estimate for Luxembourg is higher, at almost seven per 1 000. Estimates of injecting drug use indicate the population at risk for serious health consequences or drug-related death (see Figure 6).

See http://annualreport.emcdda.eu.int for statistical tables related to this section:

- Estimated number of problem drug users in EU Member States, 1995–2000
- Estimated rate of problem drug users in EU Member States, 1995–2000 (rate per 1 000 aged 15–64)

(10) Trends and patterns per country are presented online (http://annualreport.emcdda.eu.int).

⁽⁹⁾ More details on the definitions and methods used to estimate problem drug use are given online (http://annualreport.emcdda.eu.int).

Drug situation



NB The dot shows the central estimate, while the line represents the uncertainty range or 95 % confidence interval. The longer this line, the less certain the prevalence estimate is (not available for Spain). The Swedish estimate includes problem cannabis users (estimated to be about 8 % of the total sample). Sources: National focal points through EMCDDA project: 'State of the art regarding national prevalence estimates of problem drug use in the EU Member States', CT.00. RTX.23, Lisbon, EMCDDA, 2002. Coordinated by the Institut für Therapieforschung, Munich



Demand for treatment

Characteristics of clients entering treatment (such as social characteristics) and consumption behaviours (such as the proportion of injectors or opiate users) are potential indicators of wider trends in problem drug use. They also offer a view of the organisation of treatment centres in Europe. Biases may, however, arise owing to different methods of information collection and the varying level of the offer of treatment services between countries.

Substances

Despite differences in treatment policies and recording practices, it is possible to identify both common and divergent trends across Europe.

In 2000, countries report an increase in the overall number of people treated for drug problems. According to the reports, this seems to be attributed to two main factors - improved methods of data collection (an increased number of persons treated are reported) and expansion of treatment facilities, especially those providing substitution treatment. The creation of new specialised services for specific target groups (e.g. minors) could also have influenced this increase.

Opiates (especially heroin) remain the main substance for clients seeking treatment in most countries. This could be partly due to the fact that many services are organised around the needs of opiate users. Overall, between 50 and 70 % of clients requesting treatment are

Protocol on the Treatment Demand Indicator (TDI)

This year, and for the first time, 12 of the 15 EU Member States have provided the EMCDDA with data on clients demanding treatment for drugs in line with the TDI protocol. The TDI protocol (¹) is a joint EMCDDA– Pompidou Group initiative adopted by the 15 Member States. The information collected covers among others: types of treatment offered; substances used; and clients' socio-demographic details.

The data-collection exercise, covering the year 2000, involved a total of 1 702 treatment units across Europe. Using the same standards, the units together provided information on 170 444 patients.

 A full report on the Treatment Demand Indicator is available online (http://www.emcdda.eu.int/multimedia/project_reports/ situation/treatment_indicator_report.pdf).

heroin users but this varies largely between countries — from 89.6 % in Greece to 19 % in Sweden.

The number of clients seeking treatment for cannabis as their main illegal drug varies from 2.5 % in Portugal to 24 % in Germany. Often use of cannabis is combined with other substances (see selected issue on polydrug use in Chapter 3).

Spain (18%) and the Netherlands (29%) remain the countries with the highest percentages of clients seeking treatment for cocaine as their main drug. Rates in other countries are lower — from 6% in Germany to 0.8% in Greece.

The widest disparity between countries is evident with amphetamines, with 33 % of clients in Finland and 29 % in Sweden seeking treatment. The rate in Germany, the United Kingdom, Denmark and the Netherlands ranges from 7 to 2 % and is around 0 % in other countries (see Figure 7).

Polydrug use is increasingly apparent in treatment data.

Trends

New clients demanding treatment for heroin appear to be stable or decreasing. Possible reasons for this include: the proportional increase of consumers of other drugs; the end of the heroin epidemic evident in the late 1980s and early 1990s (the clients commencing during this period have already requested treatment, usually five years after starting use); a parallel trend in prevalence data; and the creation of new services targeted at other consumer profiles.

The number of clients requesting treatment for cannabis is increasing in some countries. Germany reports the highest increase in cannabis clients requesting treatment for the first time — from 16.7 % in 1996 to 42.6 % in 2000 (although it is important to note that these data only refer to outpatient units). Denmark follows with an increase from 25 % in 1996 to 30 % in 2000. Similar trends are apparent in other countries, although not to the same extent (Figure 8).

This increase in cannabis users is confirmed in data on all clients admitted to treatment over the years and it is relatively consistent among countries. Furthermore, an increase in the use of cannabis as a secondary drug together with another main substance is especially visible in clients using opiates as a main substance. This increase does not have a clear and unique explanation and reasons could include, among others, an increase in the prevalence of cannabis use, an increase in the number of cases reported by the criminal-justice system and an increase in the number of adolescents with social or psychological problems.



Drug situation



The increase in cocaine treatments shown in 1999 seems to have stabilised in 2000, especially in the countries where the increase was highest last year (the Netherlands and Spain) but this apparent trend should be monitored in the coming years. Cocaine consumption is reported to be an increasing problem in European countries over recent years and cocaine seems to play an important role as a secondary drug combined with heroin and alcohol. However, most countries remark that persons asking for treatment represent only a small percentage of cocaine users.

Routes of administration

The three routes of administration of the primary drugs most frequently reported are: injection for heroin (45.9 % among first treatments), sniffing for cocaine (47.1 %) and eating/drinking for stimulants (56.4 %) (Figure 9).

The proportion of heroin injectors varies markedly between countries — from 13 % in the Netherlands to 73.8 % in Greece. Although a general decrease in injecting heroin is quite common, an opposite trend was visible in some countries (e.g. in Finland an increase from 61.1 to 68.7 %). The rapid decrease of the injecting pattern in Spain from 1991 to 2000 should be noted in particular (Figure 10). At market level, three main factors could influence the route of administration: the relative availability of smokeable heroin (base form) or injecting (hydrochloride) heroin; heroin price (a higher price leads to more injecting); and heroin purity (lower purity is related to a higher level of injecting use).

Social characteristics

Clients entering treatment tend to be males in their 20s or 30s. The mean age is 29 years and 27 for clients entering treatment for the first time. Ireland and Finland have the

youngest treated population, whilst Greece and the Netherlands have the oldest clients seeking treatment (¹¹). The age distribution among the general population is different from the age distribution among clients, that is to say that the countries with the oldest (or youngest) population do not have the oldest (or youngest) clients in treatment. Ireland and Greece are the exceptions, where the young and the old age of clients in treatment reflects that of their general population (12). The age distribution of clients seeking treatment seems indeed to be related to the type of substances consumed — in general, cannabis consumers are younger, whilst heroin and cocaine users are older. For example, the youngest clients are found in Belgium, where there is the highest percentage of cannabis consumption, whilst the oldest are found in Greece and the Netherlands, where there is a high percentage of heroin and cocaine consumption.



NB: Data not available for France, Ireland, Austria and Portugal. Sources: Reitox national reports 2001. TDI data 2000 from outpatient treatment centres.



⁽¹¹⁾ Figure 7 OL: Mean age of clients in treatment (online version).

⁽¹²⁾ Data from Eurostat (1999) have been used as a reference point for the analysis.

The gender distribution varies from a male:female ratio of 2:1 to 6:1. There is a similarity among southern countries with a higher percentage of men and among northern countries with a lower percentage of men. Reasons for this distribution seem to be due to the different drug consumption patterns among women and men, but could also be due to a different approach to services among the genders. Women generally ask for services less than men, although some studies based on comparison between gender distribution in prevalence data and in treatment data show that a higher percentage of women using drugs ask for treatment.

In general, the social conditions of clients demanding treatment are worsening compared to the general population. There are, for example, rates of unemployment of up to 50 to 55 %, even in countries where the unemployment rate among the general population in the same age group is less than 5 % — such as Denmark (¹³). Low levels of education are also apparent. Up to 13.2 % have not completed primary school and up to 65.8 % have attended primary school only (¹⁴).

With regard to nationality, characteristics resemble the general population structure: clients are mainly nationals of the country where they request treatment and the rate of people coming from other countries (European or non-European) is consistent with the proportion of foreigners in the general population (¹⁵).

See **http://annualreport.emcdda.eu.int** for statistical tables related to this section:

- Some characteristics of persons treated for drug problems in the $\ensuremath{\mathsf{EU}}$
- Some characteristics of persons in the EU treated for drug problems for the first time
- Some characteristics of women treated for drug problems in the $\ensuremath{\mathsf{EU}}$
- \bullet Some characteristics of men treated for drug problems in the EU

Drug-related infectious diseases (16)

Prevalence and trends in HIV and AIDS

Infectious diseases related to injecting drug users (IDUs) cause the largest health care costs of all types of illegal drug use. They can be prevented by providing information and clean injecting material to IDUs, and by vaccination for the hepatitis B virus. This, and the often very high prevalence of infections among IDUs, makes policies aimed at prevention of infections in IDUs among the most cost-effective in the field of drugs.

The EMCDDA has only recently started to systematically collect data on HIV and hepatitis B and C among IDUs. Aggregated prevalence (overall and by subgroups) is collected from different routine settings (drug treatment, needle exchange, prisons, etc.) as well as from special studies (¹⁷). Although the data obtained to present are still difficult to compare, they provide a global sense of differences by country or region and by setting, among others. The longer-term aim is to improve data quality and comparability from existing routine sources and to set up truly comparable local European sero-prevalence studies among injecting drug users.

As far as data are available, they suggest that large differences exist in HIV prevalence among IDUs, between, as well as within, countries. Levels of infection in the different sources roughly vary from about 1 % in the UK (surveys and unlinked anonymous screening) to 34 % in Spain (routine diagnostic tests in drug treatment), but they are in general stable (¹⁸). This overall picture has not changed in recent years (Figure 11).

In some regions, extremely high HIV prevalence has still been found between 1996 and 2001. Although in most cases this reflects old epidemics, special prevention efforts are very important (e.g. efforts to prevent transmission to new IDUs, to sexual partners of IDUs and from mother to child). Prevalence was over 25 % among IDUs routinely tested in drug treatment in the Italian regions of Emilia-Romagna, Lombardy and Sardinia; in France (IDUs aged over 34); in Lisbon and Porto (Portu-

⁽¹³⁾ Figure 8 OL: Labour status in some countries (online version).

⁽¹⁴⁾ Figure 9 OL: Level of education in some countries (online version).

⁽¹⁵⁾ Figure 10 OL: Percentage of non-nationals among clients in first treatment in some countries (online version).

⁽¹⁶⁾ A more detailed insight into this issue is provided in the 2001 annual report, Chapter 3, Selected issues — Drug-related infectious diseases available online (http://ar2001.emcdda.eu.int).

⁽¹⁷⁾ See http://www.emcdda.eu.int/situation/themes/infectious_diseases.shtml for more detail on methods and guidelines of data collection.

^{(&}lt;sup>18</sup>) For more detail on these data and for original sources see the complementary statistical tables online (http://annualreport.emcdda.eu.int).



gal); and in Spain. Studies that included IDUs both recruited in treatment and in out-of-treatment settings (the latter being more representative) have also found prevalence over 25 %, in Lisbon (Portugal), Barcelona, Madrid, Seville (Spain, 1995), Amsterdam (the Netherlands) and Dundee (Scotland, 1995).

Trends over time in HIV prevalence are important for policy and evaluation purposes. More action is needed where trends are increasing and may be sufficient where they are decreasing. However, in areas with decreasing prevalence new infections may still occur. In recent years, increases in HIV transmission in (subgroups of) IDUs have occurred in regions or cities in Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands, Portugal and Finland (19). The Italian data shows that a national average is of very limited value for policy purposes and breakdowns by smaller regions or cities are extremely important to evaluate the success of prevention (see Figure 12). However, very few countries can yet provide national data broken down by region. Decreases in HIV prevalence were found in IDUs in treatment in the Italian regions of Lazio, Marche and Umbria and in needle exchange attendees in Helsinki,

Finland, in 2000 (following the earlier strong increase in 1998/99). For following trends over time, the prevalence data are complemented by notifications of newly diagnosed cases. Although not yet available for the most affected countries, and still much depending on testing patterns, notification data have helped identify the new increases in transmission in Finland (Figure 13).

Prevalence in young IDUs may provide further feedback on the effectiveness of prevention, as they will on average have been infected more recently than the total group. Prevalence in IDUs aged less than 25, for those countries where a breakdown by age was available, was highest in Spain (drug treatment, declining from 20 % in 1996 to 13 % in 2000), France (declining from 6 % in 1997 to 3 % in 1999 in drug treatment, but 8 % in 1998 in needle exchange attendees), Italy (drug treatment, 8 %





(19) See Box OL: Increases in HIV transmission among IDUs in some EU countries (online version) for details.

2002 Annual report on the state of the drugs problem in the European Union and Norway

in 1998) and among IDUs in drug treatment in Portugal: Coimbra (7 % in 1999/2000), Lisbon (6 to 11 % in 1998–2000), Porto (57 % in 1997).

For some countries, information is available on HIV prevalence in new injectors. This is an even better indicator for recent HIV infections (HIV incidence) and thus stronger evidence for the effectiveness of prevention measures. In new injectors, incidence per 100 personyears of exposure may vary from 0 in England and Wales (prevalence 0/122, 1998), 3.9 in the Belgian Flemish Community (3/77, 1998/99), 9.4 in Coimbra, Portugal (12/127, 1999–2000) to 10 in France (11/111, self-reported serostatus in needle exchange attendees, 1998) (Figure 13).

AIDS data can no longer be used to follow trends in HIV infection, due to improved HIV treatments that delay the onset of AIDS. AIDS incidence, however, still shows the burden of newly occurring HIV disease in the different countries. AIDS incidence has dropped in most countries since about 1996, due to the improved treatments and possibly lower infection rates in the 1990s. In Portugal, IDU-related AIDS continued increasing in the late 1990s, indicating a lack of HIV treatment uptake and/or increased HIV transmission among IDUs. The increase in Portugal has stabilised since 1997, leaving the country with the highest yearly incidence of AIDS among IDUs in the EU (²⁰).

Prevalence and trends in infection with the hepatitis C virus

Data on prevalence of infection with the hepatitis C virus (HCV) are less available and, where available, are subject to the same limitations as the HIV data. However, the overall picture is also clear — HCV prevalence is extremely high in all countries and settings, with infection rates of between 40 and 90 % among different subgroups of IDUs (Figure 14).

Although all prevalence figures show very high levels of infection, the range in prevalence is still large. As for HIV, this may partly reflect different selection mechanisms in the different data sources, and comparisons should be made with caution. Several countries have not reported updated figures. In 2000 and 2001, levels over 75 % were reported for Antwerp, Belgium (80 % in drug treatment and low threshold services 2001), northern Greece (83 % in methadone treatment), the Italian regions of Piedmont, Trentino, Friuli-Venezia Giulia, Liguria, Emilia-Romagna, Basilicata and Sardinia (drug



treatment), and some smaller cities in Portugal, outside Lisbon (drug treatment) (²¹).

For injecting risk behaviour and for measuring the effectiveness of prevention, trends in HCV prevalence can be a much more sensitive indicator than trends in HIV. HCV is more infective than HIV and can be transmitted more easily through injecting materials other than syringes, such as cotton, spoons, water (but very much less easily sexually). Increasing trends in HCV prevalence are reported from Frankfurt (drugs emergency service), northern Greece (methadone treatment) and some regions in Italy (drug treatment: Piedmont, Trentino, Emilia-Romagna, Marche, Basilicata and Sardinia, consistent with increases in HIV in some of those regions). Decreases are reported from Austria (drug treatment and low threshold services), Lisbon, Portugal (drug treatment), Helsinki, Finland (needle exchanges), London, UK (drug treatment), and other Italian regions (Veneto, Tuscany, Umbria and Abruzzi), once more demonstrating the policy relevance of monitoring

⁽²⁰⁾ Figure 11 OL: Incidence of AIDS related to IDU in EU Member States (online version).

⁽²¹⁾ Further country and regional details can be found online (http://annualreport.emcdda.eu.int) (online version).

prevalence not only nationally, but also by region, city or other small area.

As far as they are available, data on prevalence in IDUs aged under 25 indicate levels of HCV infection of from about 20 % (Flemish Community, Belgium, treatment, 1997/98) to over 74 % (Coimbra, Portugal, treatment, 2000). Prevalence in young IDUs seems to be decreasing in France (43 % 1997 to 37 % in 1999), but data are based on self-reported test results and may be unreliable.

Prevalence data of HCV in new injectors (injecting less than two years) are still not available from most sources. Where data are available, in general they indicate prevalence of 40 % or higher. This suggests that new injectors are infected at very high rates. However, it cannot be excluded that acute infections are over-represented, and thus prevalence overestimated in sources reporting prevalence among routine diagnostic testing (Coimbra, Portugal) or based on self-reported test results (France). In community-wide surveys in England and Wales, rates in new injectors as low as 2 % are reported from outside London. This suggests that incidence of new infections is very low and possibly that HCV prevention efforts in England and Wales are relatively effective (see Figure 15).

Prevalence and trends in the hepatitis B virus

Antibodies for the hepatitis B virus (HBV) indicate whether somebody has ever been infected or vaccinated. Thus, the proportion with no antibodies, i.e. the potential for vaccination among IDUs, is important to know for vaccination policy. Antibody prevalence for HBV seems less similar across the EU than prevalence of HCV. In the EU, roughly between 20 and 60 % of IDUs have antibodies against hepatitis B, suggesting a large potential for vaccination programmes (40 to 80 %).

Current hepatitis B infection can be either a recent or chronic infection, and is indicated in the blood by a serological marker named HbsAg. Levels of current infection indicate the potential for severe long-term complications and for spread to others through injecting risk behaviour or sexual transmission. Prevalence of current HBV infection is only available from a limited number of countries, but appears to differ much and is in some cases high. In northern Greece, IDUs in methadone programmes may have experienced an important outbreak of hepatitis B infection prior to 1998, as levels were extremely high in 1998 but declined strongly between 1998 and 1999. In Belgium,



data from IDUs in treatment indicate a steady increase in current HBV infection between 1997 and 1999. In Portugal, recent drug treatment data indicate a decline in current HBV infection. In Norway, notification data indicate a strong increase in current HBV (and HAV) infections among IDUs.

See **http://annualreport.emcdda.eu.int** for the detailed statistical tables related to this section:

- Summary table of 'Prevalence of HIV infection among injecting drug users in the EU, 1996–2001'
- Summary table of 'Prevalence of HCV infection among injecting drug users in the EU, 1996–2001'
- Prevalence of HIV infection among injecting drug users in the EU, 1996–2001
- Prevalence of HIV infection among injecting drug users under age 25, EU, 1996–2000
- Prevalence of HIV infection among new injecting drug users in the EU, 1996–2000
- Notified cases of HIV among injecting drug users in the EU, 1991–2001
- Prevalence of HCV infection among injecting drug users in the EU, 1996–2001
- Prevalence of HCV infection among injecting drug users under age 25, EU, 1997–2000
- Prevalence of HCV infection among new injecting drug users in the EU, 1996–2000
- Prevalence of current hepatitis B infection (HbsAg) among injecting drug users in the EU, 1996–2001
- Prevalence of HBV antibodies among injecting drug users in the EU, 1996–2001

Drug-related deaths and mortality among drug users

The number of 'drug deaths' is often used in public debates and the media, and in discussions about illegal drug problems. These deaths create serious social concern and can influence the formulation and evaluation of drug policies.

National statistics on 'drug deaths' usually refer to acute deaths directly related to drug consumption or 'overdoses' (²²). The definition used in the EMCDDA key indicator also refers to these deaths (²³). In addition, problem drug users — in particular opiate users — suffer a high overall mortality rate mainly due to overdoses, but also due to AIDS, accidents, violence, etc.

Impact and characteristics of acute drug-related deaths

The impact of acute drug-related deaths becomes evident when it is considered that each year between 7 000 and 8 000 deaths are reported by EU countries. Most countries consider that there is some level of undernotification, in some cases significant under-notification.

Opiates are present in most cases of overdose deaths, although concentrations found in toxicology vary widely, with very frequent presence of other substances, which in some cases may play a contributory role to the fatal outcome.

Most victims of overdoses are young males, in their 20s or 30s, who have been using opiates for several years. Injection represents a major risk factor, whereas non-injectors have a lower risk of overdose. Similarly to clients entering treatment, a clear ageing trend among victims is observed in most countries. Finland, and to a lesser extent, the United Kingdom are exceptions to this ageing trend $(^{24})(^{25})$.

There is enough information to conclude that a significant proportion of overdoses (fatal and non-fatal) could be avoided. Firstly, some risk factors for opiate overdoses are known: injection in comparison to other routes; combined use with other depressants; use after a period of abstinence (e.g. after prison or treatment release); injecting alone; and probably unexpected changes in purity. In addition, most overdoses happen in the presence of other users, and usually death is not immediate, allowing time for intervention. However, reactions of witnesses are often inappropriate or delayed, due to lack of knowledge or fear of police intervention.

For the time being, deaths due to intoxication by cocaine, amphetamine or ecstasy without the presence of opiates are infrequent in Europe. However, several countries (Spain, France, Italy, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom) have reported national or local increases of cases where cocaine is found (generally in addition to other substances). In addition, some deaths related to cocaine may take the form of cardiovascular problems and pass unnoticed.

Deaths directly caused by ecstasy are unusual, but they raise serious concern because they happen unexpectedly among very young people, and because some could be prevented through simple measures, such as proper ventilation and the availability of water in dance places, in addition to health education.

Methadone has been detected in a certain number of deaths, although several sources (e.g. from the United Kingdom or Germany) indicate that deaths involving methadone were more likely to be the result of illicit rather than prescribed use. It should be underlined that research shows that substitution programmes reduce the risk of mortality among programme participants.

Trends in acute drug-related deaths

In a long-term perspective of trends in EU countries (15–20 years), a marked increase of drug-related deaths was observed during the 1980s and early 1990s. During recent years, the number of acute deaths has stabilised at this higher level of between 7 000 and 8 000 per year in the EU as a whole, although with different national trends (Figure 16).

It is worrying that some EU countries report recent increases after a period of stabilisation or decreases. Other countries, such as Australia and the United States, have also reported increases of opiate-related deaths in recent years.

These overall trends may be explained by the expansion of heroin injection in many European countries during the 1980s and early 1990s. The recent levelling off might be

^{(&}lt;sup>22</sup>) Box 1 OL: Definitions of 'acute drug-related death' in EU Member States, as used in the EMCDDA annual report and reported in national reports (online version).

 $[\]ensuremath{^{(23)}}$ Box 2 OL: Drug-related deaths — EMCDDA definition (online version).

⁽²⁴⁾ Table 1 OL: Summary of characteristics of deceased due to acute drug-related deaths in the EU (online version).

^{(&}lt;sup>25</sup>) Figure 12 OL: Evolution of the proportion of people over 35 years among drug-related deaths in some EU countries (online version).

Drug situation



related to the stabilisation of the prevalence of problem drug use in some countries, the decrease in risk practices (injection) in others and, probably, the increase of treatment availability — including substitution programmes.

The fact that there are no indications of a decrease at EU level underlines the reality that drug-related health damage is far from being overcome, stresses the need to further investigate risk factors and reinforces the need for appropriate targeted interventions. It is important to stress that within the overall EU trend described, different, and sometimes divergent, national trends exist.

Several countries presented a downward trend during the second half of the 1990s (Germany, Spain, France, Italy, Luxembourg and Austria), possibly for the reasons mentioned above. In some of them the decrease or stabilisation has continued (Spain, France and Italy). However, it is worrying that, in others, the number of reported deaths has increased again in recent years (Germany, Luxembourg and Austria) (Figure 17). The ageing of problem drug users and the increase in polydrug use are considered to be contributing factors.

Some countries reported substantial upward trends in the second half of the 1990s (e.g. Greece, Ireland, Portugal and Norway). In Ireland (1999) and Portugal, this trend has been halted. Finland presents an increasing trend in recent years, with an increase of the number of young people among the deceased. These increases may be related to the later expansion of heroin use in these countries, although improved reporting systems may have played a role in some cases.

The United Kingdom has presented a steady, although moderate, increasing trend of drug-related deaths. Their



national definition includes medicine-related deaths, but if heroin–morphine cases are considered independently, a more marked upward trend is evident.

Other countries present less clearly defined trends, or changes are more difficult to interpret, due to the switch between ICD classifications (from 9th to 10th edition) or changes in national definitions.

Overall mortality among problem drug users

Problem drug users account for less than 1 % of the adult population of the EU but significant health and social problems are concentrated within this limited group. Even several city-based studies have shown that a significant proportion of the mortality of young adults in the EU can be attributed to problem drug (in particular opiate) use. For instance, in Glasgow, a third of deaths among those aged 15–35 years could be attributed to acute drug deaths during the early 1990s and, in Madrid, a quarter of deaths among males aged 15–39 years in 1990 were attributed to overdoses or AIDS related to drug injection. Further studies are needed to monitor the impact of drug-related mortality in other places and in more recent years.

Mortality cohort studies show that mortality among problem drug users is up to 20 times higher than among the general population of the same age. This high mortality is due mainly to overdoses, but also due to AIDS and other infectious diseases, accidents, suicides, etc. Overdoses and external causes account for an important part of this mortality, in particular in countries with low HIV prevalence among drug users, whereas AIDS plays a significant role in countries with high HIV prevalence. Chronic health problems (cirrhosis following hepatitis, cancer, etc.) may play an important role in the longer term.

2002 Annual report on the state of the drugs problem in the European Union and Norway



Mortality of injectors is two to four times higher than non-injectors and (until recently) mortality of drug users infected by HIV was two to six times higher than noninfected users. With recent improvements in HIV treatment, this difference might be decreasing.

Mortality of problem drug users other than opiate users or non-injectors seems clearly lower, although new methodological approaches may be needed to assess mortality among these users.

Trends in mortality among problem drug users

The multi-site study coordinated by the EMCDDA shows differences in overall mortality rates and distribution of causes of death between participating sites. The study also reveals relevant changes over time in overall and cause-specific mortality.

Barcelona presented the highest mortality rates and Vienna and Dublin the lowest. In several locations, mortality rates were higher during the early or mid-1990s and have decreased in recent years. In Barcelona, rates were particularly high between 1992 and 1996, but have decreased sharply in recent years, due mainly to the decrease in AIDS mortality. In Lisbon, mortality rates have been increasing until recent years (Figure 19).

Direct comparisons across sites should be made with caution, since profiles of recruitment centres are different, although in general they would tend to represent the common types of treatment available. With this limitation in mind, trends on overall and cause-specific rates within each site can give valuable insights.

See **http://annualreport.emcdda.eu.int** for tables related to this section:

- Number of 'acute drug-related deaths' recorded in EU countries (according to national definitions used to report cases to the EMCDDA), 1985–2000
- Box 1 OL: Definitions of 'acute drug-related death' in EU Member States, as used in the EMCDDA annual report, and reported in national reports
- Box 2 OL: Drug-related deaths EMCDDA definition

Drug-related crime

Drug-related crime can be considered as covering criminal offences against drug legislation, crimes committed under the influence of illicit drugs, economically driven crimes committed by users to support their drug habit (mainly acquisitive crime and dealing) and systemic crimes committed as part of the functioning of illicit markets (fight for territories, punishment of dealers, etc.). Except for drug law offences, these categories do not transpose into routinely available data and when available come from ad hoc local studies that are difficult to extrapolate.

Arrests (²⁶) for offences against national drug legislation (use, possession, trafficking, etc.) reflect differences in law as well as priorities and resources for law enforcement. Differences in recording procedures and definitions affect comparisons. Whenever possible, trends are compared.

⁽²⁶⁾ The term 'arrest' covers different concepts, varying between countries (police reports of suspected drug law offenders, charges for drug law offences, etc.). Please refer to the online table on 'arrests' for an exact definition per country.

Drug situation



NB: These 'observed mortality rates' represent the average for the whole follow-up period in each site (in brackets). In each study site there have been significant changes over time (see Figure 18). If 'observed rates' were presented year by year these rates would change. See Table 2 OL: 'Characteristics of cohorts enrolled'. Several cohorts recruited a proportion of their cases through inpatient drug treatment services. Clients recruited through inpatient services may not be fully comparable to other samples of treated clients. Sources: EMCDDA projects CT.99.EPD' and CT.00.EP13, coordinated by the Department of Epidemiology, Rome E Health Authority.

Cannabis remains in 2000 the most common drug involved in 'arrests' — accounting for 37 % of the drug-related arrests in Sweden and up to 85 % in France. In Portugal and Luxembourg, heroin is predominant while in the Netherlands, most of the drug offences are related to 'hard drugs' (drugs other than cannabis and its derivatives) (²⁷).

The majority of reported drug offences are related to drug use or possession for use — from 55 % in Portugal to 90 % in Austria. In Norway, 60 % relate to drug dealing and trafficking. In Italy, the Netherlands and Spain, where drug use is not considered as a criminal offence, all drug offences relate to dealing or trafficking. As in previous years, Luxembourg reports the highest number of arrests involving offences for both drug use and drug trafficking.

Trends

In the EU as a whole, 'arrests' for drug law offences have been steadily increasing since 1985. Increases by over 10-fold were reported in Greece and Portugal while in Denmark, Luxembourg, the Netherlands and Sweden, increases were much lower (less than twofold).

Over the last three years, the number of drug-related 'arrests' increased in most EU countries. The highest increases were reported by Greece, Ireland and Norway. In 2000, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom were the only countries reporting a fall in the number of drug-related 'arrests' (²⁸) (Figure 20).



See http://annualreport.emcdda.eu.int for statistical tables related to this section:

- Drug mostly involved in the 'arrests' for drug offences in EU countries and Norway
- Offence type mostly involved in the 'arrests' for drug offences in EU countries and Norway
- Number of 'arrests' for drug law offences in EU countries and Norway, 1985–2000
- References to graph 'Arrests for drug offences, 1991–2000. Three-year moving averages indexed (1991 = 100)'

⁽²⁷⁾ Figure 14 OL: Drug mostly involved in the 'arrests' for drug offences in EU countries (online version).

⁽²⁸⁾ There was a fall in 'arrests' in Belgium too, but it is due to a change in recording procedures.

Drug markets and availability

Drug seizures are usually considered as indirect indicators of supply and availability of drugs, although they reflect law enforcement resources, priorities and strategies, as well as vulnerability of traffickers to enforcement. Quantities seized may fluctuate from one year to another due to a small number of large seizures (²⁹). For this reason, the numbers of seizures are usually considered as a better indicator of trends (³⁰). In all countries, they include a major proportion of small seizures from the retail level of the market. Where known, origin and destination of drugs seized may indicate trafficking routes and producing areas. Price and purity of drugs at retail level are reported by most of the Member States, but data are too scarce to allow for accurate comparisons.

Cannabis

Cannabis is the most seized drug in every Member State except Portugal, where heroin seizures predominate. Since 1996, Spain has been seizing the largest quantities of cannabis, more than half the total amount seized in the EU. The United Kingdom reports a higher number of cannabis seizures but on average they involve smaller quantities.

Cannabis resin comes mainly from Morocco via Spain and the Netherlands. The cannabis herb originates in Afghanistan, Pakistan and Lebanon, as well as coming from Albania to Italy and Greece, and from Angola to Portugal. Local production takes place in most Member States, especially 'nederwiet' (³¹) production in the Netherlands.

In 2000, the retail price of cannabis was reported to vary between EUR 1 and EUR 20 per gram of cannabis resin and between EUR 2 and EUR 8 per gram of cannabis leaves. The percentage of THC content in cannabis resin ranges between 2 and 13 % on average, although samples ranging from 0 to 50 % of THC have been reported in the EU. The THC content in cannabis leaves is generally lower, around 1 to 6 %, with the exception of Belgium (17 % on average) and 'nederwiet' in the Netherlands, which rates higher (10 % on average).

Trends

The number of cannabis seizures has increased steadily in the EU since 1985 and seems to have stabilised over the last three years. This trend is especially due to a decreasing number of cannabis seizures in Belgium, the Netherlands, Portugal, Austria and the United Kingdom in recent years. Quantities increased too, but have stabilised since 1995. In 2000, quantities seized went down in most of the Member States.

The price of cannabis is generally stable in the EU, although increasing in Luxembourg and Portugal (resin) in 2000.

Heroin

In 2000, almost 9 tonnes of heroin were seized in the EU, of which over a third was accountable to the United Kingdom (Figure 21). Heroin seized in the EU comes mainly from the Golden Crescent (south-west Asia: Afghanistan and Pakistan), followed by the Golden Triangle (south-east Asia: Myanmar, Laos and Thailand), via Turkey, the Balkan route and the Netherlands. However, increased trafficking via eastern Europe (Russia, Estonia, Bosnia and Slovenia) and central Asian countries from the former USSR was reported.

At street level, heroin prices varied between EUR 25 and EUR 330 per gram in 2000 across the EU. The highest prices are reported by Ireland, Finland and Norway. Heroin purity ranges typically from under 20 to 45 %, but higher average purity is reported by Belgium, Denmark, Spain and Norway regarding brown heroin.

Trends

At EU level, heroin seizures increased up until 1991–92 and then stabilised. In 2000, they decreased in Ireland, Luxembourg, Norway, Portugal and Spain. Compared to the situation in 1985, quantities seized at EU level have been increasing. They stabilised during the period 1991–98, but have been increasing again since then. In 2000, all countries, except Denmark, Germany, Spain, Italy and Sweden, reported increases in the amount of heroin seized.

Heroin street prices are generally stable or decreasing, though brown heroin was reported to increase in 2000 in Portugal, Sweden and the United Kingdom. Heroin purity is reported to be stable or decreasing in all countries, except Denmark, Germany, Luxembourg and the United Kingdom, where it has been recently increasing, especially brown heroin.

Cocaine

Spain remains the country in the EU with the highest level of cocaine seizures. The cocaine used in Europe comes from Latin America (especially Colombia, Brazil and Venezuela) via Central America and the Caribbean. For several countries, Spain is the main entry point to the rest of the EU, although cocaine is then often redistributed via the Netherlands.

(³⁰) Caution is required when analysing trends at EU level, as series start at different years in different countries. See the statistical tables (http://annualreport.emcdda.eu.int) for more information.

⁽²⁹⁾ Figure 15 OL: Quantities of cannabis, cocaine, heroin and amphetamines seized in EU countries (1985–2000) (online version).

⁽³¹⁾ 'Nederwiet': Dutch cannabis leaves grown locally in the Netherlands.

Drug situation



The retail price of cocaine varied from EUR 45 to EUR 170 per gram in 2000. The lowest prices are found in Spain and the United Kingdom, and the highest in Finland. Cocaine purity is generally high, between 50 and 85 % in most countries, except in Denmark and Germany, where it was on average lower in 2000.

Trends

The total number of cocaine seizures rose steadily since the mid-1980s in the EU and stabilised in 2000. The quantities of cocaine seized had been fluctuating within an upward trend but, in 2000, a marked decrease was reported — mainly due to very large decreases in countries seizing most of the cocaine in the EU (Spain, France and the Netherlands).

Cocaine prices are stable or decreasing in most countries, but increased in 2000 in Denmark, Portugal and the United Kingdom. Purity remains stable or is decreasing in every Member State.

Synthetic drugs: amphetamines, ecstasy and LSD

In Finland, Norway and Sweden, amphetamines are the second most commonly seized drug (after cannabis). The United Kingdom accounts for most of the amounts of amphetamines, ecstasy and LSD seized in the EU.

The Netherlands is a major site for the production of ecstasy, amphetamines and related drugs but evidence of production in other Member States (Belgium and the United Kingdom) and in east European countries (the Czech Republic and Estonia) is also reported.

Amphetamines are reported to be sold at between EUR 5 and EUR 35 per gram on average, while ecstasy tablets vary from EUR 5 to EUR 15 each. Data for 2000 show that synthetic drugs are cheaper in Belgium and the United Kingdom. Amphetamine purity is very variable, from 3 % in Ireland to 46 % in Finland, but is typically between 10 and 15 % in the EU. In 2 % of cases in Greece to 100 % in Finland, tablets sold as ecstasy contain ecstasy or ecstasylike substances (MDMA, MDEA, MDA). Amphetamines (or metamphetamines) are found in 2 to 22 % of tablets, but various other psychoactive substances (2-CB, 2-CT7, 4-MTA and recently PMA and PMMA) may also be found.

Trends

Amphetamine seizures — both numbers and quantities have been rising since 1985. The number of amphetamine seizures went down in 1999 and 2000, especially in the United Kingdom. After decreases in 1998 and 1999, quantities rose again in 2000, particularly in Germany.

Ecstasy seizures have been increasing in most of the EU since 1985, with marked increases in 2000. Amounts of ecstasy seized followed the same upward trend since 1985, and then stabilised from 1993 to peak in 1996 and increase again since 1999. In 2000, they rose in all countries except Denmark, Luxembourg and Portugal.

LSD seizures are less common. Both numbers and quantities went up until 1993, decreased from then, but rose



slightly in 2000. Denmark, Germany, Spain, France, Ireland, the Netherlands, Portugal and Finland report major increases in quantities of LSD seized in 2000.

After significant decreases in the 1990s, amphetamine and ecstasy prices have stabilised in the EU. However, in 2000, Ireland reported an increase in both synthetic drug prices, while Germany reported a rise for amphetamine only. Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom reported cheaper ecstasy tablets in 2000. In recent years, the proportion of tablets containing ecstasy or ecstasy-like substances has increased in many countries while those containing amphetamines (and metamphetamines) decreased. Greece reported a shift from MDMA to amphetamines as the main substance in the majority of tablets in 1999 and 2000. See **http://annualreport.emcdda.eu.int** for statistical tables related to this section:

- Drug seizures in the EU countries and Norway, 2000
- Number of amphetamine seizures, 1985–2000
- Number of cannabis seizures, 1985-2000
- Number of cocaine seizures, 1985-2000
- Number of ecstasy seizures, 1985-2000
- Number of heroin seizures, 1985-2000
- Number of LSD seizures, 1985-2000
- Quantities of amphetamine seized, 1985-2000 (kg)
- Quantities of cannabis seized, 1985–2000 (kg)
- Quantities of cocaine seized, 1985-2000 (kg)
- Quantities of ecstasy seized, 1985-2000 (tablets)
- Quantities of heroin seized, 1985-2000 (kg)
- Quantities of LSD seized, 1985-2000 (doses)

Chapter

Responses to drug use

This chapter presents an overview of developments in national and EU drug policies and strategies. Responses to the drugs problem in the fields of education, health, social care and criminal justice are also covered.

National and European drug strategies

Drug policy into action plans

EU strategy

In October 2001, the Council's Horizontal Working Party on Drugs examined the 'Report on the identification of criteria for an evaluation of the European Union strategy on drugs (2000–04)', drawn up by the EMCDDA and Europol. It offers an analysis of each of the six targets of the EU action plan (³²) and underlines monitoring and evaluation potentials and constraints. It also includes a set of parameters on which to establish a situation baseline using 1999 data (³³) and against which the situation in 2004 will be measured.

National drugs strategies (34)

The EU action plan on drugs has contributed to promoting awareness on the need for coordinated activities in Member States in the field of drugs. Article 1.1.3 calls on the Council to provide regular opportunities for those responsible for drugs at national level to meet and exchange information on national developments and increase cooperation. In Sweden, one such meeting was organised among national drug coordinators in 2001 (³⁵).

As far as national strategies are concerned, the trend established over the past few years to translate drug policy frameworks into an action plan, drug strategy or policy document has continued, although a gap between the written strategy and its implementation still remains.

In March 2001, the Portuguese Government approved an action plan on drugs entitled *Horizonte 2004*, which identifies detailed objectives, goals and specific actions to be developed over a period of four years. One month later, the Irish Government approved a national drugs strategy for the period 2001–08 which elaborates specific objectives, key performance indicators and individual actions to be taken by each minister involved in the delivery of drugs policy. In June, the Greek Ministerial Council adopted a number of decisions directed towards a holistic, unified and coordinated policy on drugs. In these decisions, the government commits itself to introducing to parliament a five-year national action plan with specific targets to be met, activities to be developed and measures to be taken.

In Finland, an action plan for 2001–03 was adopted (in February 2002) and specific drug strategies drawn up between customs and the frontier guard. In Austria, all nine provinces now have a drugs or addiction coordinator and seven have drugs action plans while, in Belgium, the *Cellule drogue santé* was created in June 2001 and a coordination body is planned for the end of 2002. Italy, following the new government approach on drugs, announced the creation of an anti-drugs department headed by a drug coordinator, in November 2001. In Germany, a team of *Länder* coordinators has been working on improving coordination for many years. In January 2002, the Swedish Government presented its new drugs action plan for

⁽³²⁾ Details on the EU drugs strategy and action plan can be found online (http://www.emcdda.eu.int/policy_law/eu/eu_actionplan.shtml).

⁽³³⁾ Available online (http://snapshot.emcdda.eu.int).

⁽³⁴⁾ Table 3 OL: Action plans and coordinators (online version).

⁽³⁵⁾ The EMCDDA contributed with the publication of a comparative study on drug coordination in the EU (http://www.emcdda.eu.int/multimedia/project_reports/policy_law/drug_coordination_oct_01.pdf).

2002–05 before the parliament. A 'drug commissioner' has also been appointed to coordinate and stimulate the actions at different levels of society.

In the United Kingdom, contrary to the general tendency, responsibility for drugs within government was moved from the Central Drug Coordination Unit (now dissolved) and its 'drug tsar' in the Cabinet Office to the Home Office and lies under the responsibility of the Secretary of State for Home Affairs.

Assessment of the impact of the drug strategies

Although all Member States have now more or less defined drug strategies, the assessment of their impact is not yet common practice. Progress has been made in evaluating specific programmes or activities, usually in the demand-reduction field. However, when legal instruments or national strategies are considered as a whole, evaluation does not feature as a priority.

A few promising examples among the newly adopted strategies can, however, be mentioned. In Ireland and Portugal, the new national drugs plans adopted in 2001 both aim to establish evaluation mechanisms to assess their overall results. In Finland, evaluation is part of the new action plan for 2001–03 and it will concern the effectiveness of the plan as a whole, including treatment measures and actions relating to drug control.

In France, the Observatoire français des drogues et des toxicomanies (OFDT) has received a mandate from the mission interministérielle lutte contre la drogue et la toxicomanie (MILDT) to evaluate the effectiveness of the most important aspects of the French drugs plan for 1999–2001. Evaluation is a priority in the Netherlands, not only with regard to demand-reduction programmes but also with regard to other policy aspects (e.g. the coffee shop policy and changes in AHOJ-G criteria). The extended monitoring practices (national drug monitor) in the field of drug use and health — and related development of activities in law enforcement criminal justice — also contribute to the evaluation of policies. Other national drug strategies announce evaluation as a tool for measuring individual activities such as treatment methods or prevention techniques, as for example in the new Belgian 'political note' where evaluation is to be applied to treatment methods, health, care circuits and prevention techniques.

Member States look at legal and illegal substances together

Increased attention to legal and illegal substances in drugs national policies is visible. If France was among

the first countries to extend reflection on preventive and rehabilitative measures in terms of addiction and not just on substances in 1998, over the last year the Norwegian Government further developed a comprehensive 'substance abuse policy' including alcohol, with regard to prevention, care and treatment. In Germany, the new Federal Drug Commissioner's report in April 2001 also highlighted its intention to extend prevention, above all, to legal drugs, alcohol and tobacco. In Belgium, one of the four aims of the new federal government policy is to prevent young people from using drugs (including tobacco and alcohol). This trend is also apparent in the new drug strategy in Ireland, where in 2001 formal links at local, regional and national levels with the national alcohol policy have been developed to ensure complementarity between the different measures being undertaken. In the United Kingdom, in May 2001 the Northern Ireland Executive endorsed a joint implementation model. Through this structure, the strategies on alcohol and illicit drugs will be taken forward together. The Welsh drug strategy also includes legal substances.

Drug laws in the EU (³⁶)

At European level

On 23 May 2001, the European Commission adopted the proposal of a Council framework decision laying down minimum provisions on the constituent elements of criminal acts and penalties in the field of illicit drug trafficking. This Commission initiative provides a common definition of illicit drug trafficking as well as common penalties concerning large-scale transnational trafficking. The proposal is currently (March 2002) being examined by the European Parliament and the Council of Ministers of the EU.

At national level

Legal developments in the field of drugs in the reporting period comprise mainly measures towards drug users, driving under the influence of drugs, and substitution treatment.

Legal approaches towards (drugs and) drug users

There has been a trend over the year 2001 for some EU Member States to propose and enact legal changes directed at distinguishing more clearly drug users from other drug law offenders and at distinguishing cannabis from other illicit substances. Countries are considering various options, which may include a more specialised court system or a change in the law or policy regarding drug users.

^{(&}lt;sup>36</sup>) For the latest news and information on developments in Member States' legal systems on drugs, see the European Legal Database on Drugs (http://eldd.emcdda.eu.int/).

Responses to drug use

This is prominent in Portugal, which has removed the offences of drug use, acquisition and possession for personal use from the status of criminal law, and instead sanctions these offences administratively through the commissions for the dissuasion of drug abuse, established in July 2001. The commissions are composed of three members (appointed by the Ministries of Justice and Health and the member of government responsible for the area of drug abuse), a technical team of three to five professionals (psychologists, social workers and legal experts) and administrative staff. Cases are assessed individually, and reports by the technical team support the members' decisions for procedures and/or sanctions necessary. In April 2001, Luxembourg reduced the penalties for cannabis-related offences, by removing the option of a prison sentence for possession for personal use and personal use itself, and declared a prosecution policy aiming to concentrate only on problematic use. The political note released by the Belgian Government on 19 January 2001 outlines a similar idea. Luxembourg and Belgium have also used the law to make a distinction between cannabis and other substances for the first time, as does a cross-party draft of an amendment to the drug law in Greece that was put to the Greek Parliament in April 2001; though this was eventually rejected by the Greek Parliament in May 2002. In the United Kingdom, a reclassification of cannabis from class B drugs to class C drugs (moving possession for use from an arrestable to a non-arrestable offence) is expected in 2002. In Ireland, non-violent drug addict offenders will be directed to a drug court that was established on a pilot basis in January 2001 in Dublin - a similar project was launched in Glasgow, Scotland, in November. For those eligible for imprisonment not exceeding six months, the Dutch Government's new law on alternative sanctions came into force on 1 February 2001, permitting the imposition of combined work and educational penalties together with or instead of prison and/or fines.

However, this trend is not universal; in Finland, an amendment to the Penal Code in the summer of 2001 removed the right to waive prosecution of drug crimes, if the offence was considered not detrimental to the obedience of law, and enabled the prosecutor to conduct summary proceedings outside court, with a penalty of a fine or up to six months' imprisonment. Nevertheless, provisions remain that permit the waiving of prosecution or punishment if the offence is considered insignificant.

Drugs and driving

There is increasing activity in the field of legislation governing driving under the influence of drugs, at both policy and operational levels. At policy level, in June 2001, the Finnish working group appointed to implement the new government resolution on road safety proposed zero tolerance for drugs in road traffic. Other Member States have strengthened their regulations regarding who to test and how. In Austria, at the time of amending the Road Traffic Act in spring 2001, the decision was made to exclude a provision on obligatory drug tests for drivers. In Portugal in May and France in November, legislation was put in place for testing individuals involved in traffic accidents, in order to conduct research on drugs and driving so as to study the level and type of drug use among drivers and their contribution to accidents and to design a specific and effective law to address driving under the influence of drugs. The UK Government also implemented legislation, in March 2001, regulating the testing and related procedures on individuals suspected of driving under the influence of illicit substances.

Substitution treatment

Member States are continuing to work on legislation regarding substitution treatment for addiction. Some countries are considering it, and those who have implemented it are improving their legal frameworks.

In Belgium, following the political note of January 2001, legislation is under preparation to control substitution treatment. In July 2001, Germany established a central substitution register, in order to avoid repeated prescriptions of substitution medicaments, and specified an additional qualification for doctors practising substitution. In Luxembourg, following a Grand Ducal decree of February 2002, medical doctors prescribing substitution drugs have to be granted a State licence by the Minister for Health. The same decree foresees the creation of a special surveillance commission and the setting up of a national substitution register. In Greece, in the framework established by Law 2716/1999, further steps are planned to strengthen the structure of substitution treatment by expanding the administration of substitutes through the national health system. Meanwhile, in the United Kingdom, there is now a legal mechanism (in place since April 2001) for prescribing buprenorphine substitution treatment when previously only for methadone could be prescribed.

Demand reduction

As described above, most EU Member States have a national drug strategy or similar arrangements (³⁷), as does Norway, and all include priorities in the field of

(37) Table 4 OL: Introduction to demand-reduction responses in the EU Member States and Norway (online version).

responses, with some countries (Spain, Ireland, Portugal and the United Kingdom) having set quantitative targets.

Naturally, national strategies include a comprehensive range of responses. However, tentatively, some priorities can be discerned either to reinforce certain types of responses and/or to develop more efficient structures (38). School prevention is seen as a priority in 10 Member States, whereas importance is given to community prevention in seven. Prevention and early intervention for young people at risk is high on the agenda in nine countries. Harm reduction and medically assisted treatment are each considered a priority in six Member States, whereas Italy and Sweden put increased emphasis on drug-free treatment. Seven countries mention responses in the criminal-justice system as high priorities and six social reintegration. Eight countries see a need to improve the treatment structure and four to strengthen prevention structures in the country.

In most countries, the implementation of demand-reduction responses is decentralised due to the nature of the activities. Nevertheless, the priorities set in the national strategies and the associated funding for research and practice are essential for realisation at regional or local levels. The relative importance of policy, practice and research in implementing responses differs between countries. Evidently, all influence each other reciprocally but, in some countries, national policy seems to have a greater influence on practice while in others, often at regional level, practice influences policy.

The quality of demand-reduction responses is assured with the introduction (in some countries) of national standards, accreditation procedures or guidelines. Treatment has to adhere to quality standards in more countries than prevention does (³⁹).

Prevention in schools, local settings and the community

All Member States stress the high priority of prevention in their national strategies and in the numerous preventive activities in different settings, most notably in schools. However, in many Member States, it is becoming increasingly obvious that there is a substantial gap between policy aims and the reality and the quality of prevention (⁴⁰). The real extent of prevention (e.g. in schools) can be measured approximately if it is done in a structured way through clearly defined programmes (41). Only then can key parameters be assessed — parameters such as content (models and risk factors addressed) and the number of schools, pupils and teachers covered. This is the case in some Member States (Flemish Community of Belgium, Germany, Greece, Spain, Ireland and the United Kingdom) where programme-based information is available and can be evaluated. However, often the prevention of addiction is embedded into broader school policies with the aim of enhancing healthy lifestyles in daily (school) life. In this 'unstructured' context, prevention is carried out ad hoc through local advisory groups or councils (in Denmark, France and Norway), and/or is closely related to specific needs emerging and to resources (e.g. in France, Italy, Austria, Portugal and Finland). However, this approach is hard to capture in a standardised way and difficult to evaluate.

The range of objectives in school prevention is wide: besides the frequent mention of all-inclusive health promotion principles, the scope ranges from development of social/personal skills to the promotion of identity/personality. Awareness and information are often at the core of drug prevention, although such approaches alone have proven ineffective (Skolverket, 2000). There is no common European, evidence/research-based prevention principle in this field. The transnational 'Healthy school and drugs' project, financed by the European Commission, applies evidence-based quality elements in school prevention (http://www.school-and-drugs.org).

Another key problem is the logistical and administrative step of implementing the good practice model programmes (including evaluation) on a large scale within a country. Germany and the Netherlands explicitly refer to this challenge. Attention to prevention in some Member States (e.g. in Denmark and Germany) is experiencing a recent shift towards recreational settings in response to changing consumption trends and is moving in terms of content from risk avoidance to risk management. A European web site (http://www.drug-prevention.de) gathers projects that operate according to this philosophy. Overall, web sites for preventive purposes have increased in number and attractiveness in most Member States (⁴²). Another additional element is a set of guidelines on how to identify and deal with pupils that are taking drugs.

^{(&}lt;sup>38</sup>) Table 5 OL: Overview of the demand-reduction priorities in the Member States and Norway (online version).

^{(&}lt;sup>39</sup>) Table 6 OL: Overview of quality standards for prevention and treatment in the Member States and Norway (online version).

⁽⁴⁰⁾ Table 7 OL: An overview of prevention objectives, school programmes, web sites and prevention activities organised in recreational settings (online version).

^{(&}lt;sup>41</sup>) An overview of prevention programmes in schools is provided online in Table 7 OL (School programmes) (online version).

⁽⁴²⁾ A list of prevention web sites is provided online in Table 7 OL (Web sites) (online version).

A recent growing interest and allocation of resources to quality assurance and evidence-based prevention can be clearly noticed in some Member States (Spain, Ireland, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom). As a parallel development, Germany, Greece, France, Ireland, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom are setting up databases to assess and monitor their national 'prevention coverage'. Spain already has an established information system.

As far as community programmes are concerned, there is no common concept among Member States. To begin with, this activity is not limited to prevention only: reduction of drug-related risks is often also included in community programmes. Besides, 'community programme' in some Member States means a programme carried out **in** a community (i.e. top-down), in others a programme carried out **by** a community (i.e. bottom-up).

Wide disparities also exist between Member States concerning the role of mass media in prevention strategies from none at all (in Austria and the United Kingdom) to very prominent (in France and Italy). Peer-group approaches are strongly contested as well; they are extensively used in the Flemish Community (De Sleutel) of Belgium and in Denmark (Guardian Angels), while in some Austrian provinces they are rejected as being ineffective.

Prevention in recreational settings

From a conceptual point of view, prevention in recreational settings can be seen as the overlap zone between prevention and risk reduction and thus often embraces conflicting ideological factions. In some Member States, the projects see themselves as 'secondary prevention', while others seek to conceptualise their work as 'harm reduction'. In broad terms, this form of prevention is based on three intervention strategies: the production of information material on drugs and the health, legal and emotional issues related to them; related personalised interventions in discotheques or raves; and structural measures such as safe-clubbing guidelines (⁴³).

Producing and distributing information material is traditionally the preferred and most widespread activity in recreational settings. In Germany, Spain and the United Kingdom particularly, numerous leaflets, posters and flyers are produced by diverse actors, but little is known about the impact of these unidirectional and anonymous communication strategies. In fewer countries (Germany, Spain, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom), peer-group approaches are applied to reach clubbers in order to transmit preventive information in a more interactive and personal way, still using information material as handouts.

The importance and impact of simple but basic rules for safety in party settings has become increasingly recognised. These means of structural prevention, already available in the United Kingdom as official safer dancing guidelines (http://www.clubhealth.org.uk/pages/ downloads.htm), are the most direct way of preventing drug-related problems in party settings. They aim to assure that the most frequent health hazards are minimised through the provision of fresh drinking water and chill-out areas to avoid overheating, through the training of staff in first aid and monitoring and in the detection of early problems through facilitating the work of outreach teams for prevention. These guidelines exist in several countries but their implementation by club owners or by the responsible local authorities in Member States is still very irregular. There are, however, initiatives to have a harmonised set of safe-clubbing guidelines Europe-wide.

More infrequently, for example in Belgium and Germany, specific interventions are offered, such as the management of 'bad trips' — that is how to deal with the adverse and unexpected effects of drugs without resorting to hospitalisation — and, in some Member States, the analysis of pills at festivities.

The value of on-site pill testing interventions for selectively attracting a target group of experienced or experimenting party-drug users for intense interactive preventive counselling (⁴⁴) has been overshadowed by discussions focusing on questions of its pharmacological accuracy (Winstock et al., 2001) and its ideological (⁴⁵) or legal implications.

Prevention of infectious diseases

Major evidence-based responses to prevent infectious diseases among drug users are community-based out-reach, drug treatment — in particular the prescription of methadone or other substitution drugs (which has expanded considerably in the EU and Norway over recent years, see the section on 'Treatment') — hepatitis immunisation, access to sterile injection equipment and safer use information and training (⁴⁶).

⁽⁴³⁾ An overview of prevention initiatives in recreational settings is provided in Table 7 OL (Recreational settings) (online version).

⁽⁴⁴⁾ See the EMCDDA study (http://www.emcdda.eu.int/multimedia/project_reports/responses/pill_testing_report.pdf), pp. 35–37.

⁽⁴⁵⁾ Article in Corriere della Sera, 2 November 2001.

⁽⁴⁶⁾ See also: Drugs in focus, Briefing 4, EMCDDA, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2002.

Some outreach services are available in all EU countries and Norway, but the degree to which staff of drugs agencies set off and bring their services to where the clients are varies considerably between and within countries. Low-threshold services remain an important access point to inform and educate drug users about the risks of use and how to reduce them. Their role in providing basic health care services to drug users that can contribute to reducing the risk of acquiring infectious diseases is increasingly recognised and low-threshold services have been further expanded in several EU countries and Norway in 2000.

Special programmes that provide access to sterile injecting equipment are of major importance for minimising the rate of HIV and other blood-borne viral infections in drug users; and syringe exchange programmes (SEPs), through drugs agencies and pharmacies, or vending machines exist in all EU countries and Norway. SEPs have been expanding in 2000 (⁴⁷). Large differences in availability and coverage between and within countries still remain (Wiessing et al., 2001).

In Helsinki and several other Finnish municipalities, injecting equipment has become more available in 2001. In the Flemish Community of Belgium, the first needle exchange was opened at the end of 2000 - six years after the first such service was available in the French Community. The Irish national drugs strategy 2001-08 includes risk reduction as part of its treatment pillar; and the Portuguese national drug action plan Horizonte 2004 has ambitious harm-reduction objectives, for example the expansion of needle exchanges to all districts by 2004. However, only 5 % of the available budget in Portugal has been allocated to the reduction of drug-related harm and 95 % to prevention, treatment and rehabilitation. The UK Department of Health launched the campaign 'Making harm reduction work' in England, to encourage and develop harm reduction with drug users (Hunt et al., 2001).

The impact of harm-reduction policies on the hepatitis C epidemic was explored in research studies in England and Wales (Hope et al., 2001) and in Ireland (Smyth et al., 1999), and indications of reduced risk behaviour as a consequence of such strategies have been found.

Systematic efforts are under way in Germany, Ireland, the Netherlands, Portugal, Austria, Finland, the United Kingdom and Norway to make hepatitis B vaccination more accessible and achieve full immunisation among a higher percentage of drug users. Currently, the vaccination does not seem very accessible to drug users and immunisation rates are low in general. Costs might also play a role — for example, in the Flemish Community of Belgium, drug users are not a priority group within the Ministry of Health's immunisation policy, and consequently, the vaccination is not free (⁴⁸).

Prevention of drug-related deaths

In 2000, an estimated number of 7 000 to 8 000 drugrelated deaths due to accidental or intentional overdose were recorded in the EU. Research has shown an increased risk for drug injectors, and in particular for those who combine heroin with central nervous system depressants such as alcohol or benzodiazepines (see the 'Drug-related deaths' section).

Scientific evidence indicates that methadone maintenance has a substantial protective effect on mortality from opioid overdose and mortality from all causes (WHO, 1998). Innovative approaches to preventing and managing overdoses — such as the training of drug users to protect themselves against overdosing and to better manage overdoses they witness, naloxone administration training as well as basic resuscitation techniques, or the development of specific prevention information materials — are reported from Belgium, Germany, Finland, Norway and the United Kingdom. In the latter, the government launched an action plan to prevent drug-related deaths in November 2001, which includes training and information campaigns, as well as monitoring and research activities (⁴⁹).

Availability of treatment facilities

The past five years have seen a considerable increase in the availability of treatment facilities in the European Union and Norway (⁵⁰). The provision of both medically assisted treatment (substitution treatment) and drug-free treatment has increased, although the degree of increase varies largely between countries.

On the whole, medically assisted treatment appears to have grown more rapidly than drug-free treatment. Rapid

⁽⁴⁷⁾ Table 8 OL: Provision and types of syringe exchange programmes (SEPs), pharmacy involvement, number of syringes distributed/sold (online version).

⁽⁴⁸⁾ Table 9 OL: Provision of HIV counselling and testing, HIV treatment and HBV vaccination for injecting drug users (IDUs) in some European countries, as reported by national focal points, 2000 and 2001 (online version).

⁽⁴⁹⁾ Examples of overdose prevention messages used in the campaign are available online (online version).

^{(&}lt;sup>50</sup>) Table 10: Availability of drug-free treatment in the European Union plus Norway (in units) and Table 11 OL: Substitution treatment amongst problem drug users (in number of persons) (online version).

Drug consumption facilities

By September 2001, there were 19 consumption rooms in Germany (Stöver, 2002); over 20 official drug consumption facilities operated in 2002 in several Dutch cities. Spain opened an injection room in May 2000 in Las Barranquillas, near Madrid and a mobile injection facility has been operating in Barcelona since 2001. Facilities for supervised drug use are part of the Portuguese harm-reduction policy framework and foreseen within the national drug action plan *Horizonte 2004*. In Luxembourg, legal obstacles were removed for injecting rooms to be considered as drug care services and it is planned to integrate an injecting room into the expanded services of an 'emergency shelter centre' by 2003.

In Norway, the outgoing government suggested (in autumn 2001) that a trial be conducted, preceded by a public hearing. The current government decided in May 2002 against the trial, supported by the majority of replies to the hearing. An injection-room initiative in

increases in medically assisted treatment have taken place in France (from 500 to more than 78 000 clients in the period 1993–2000), Norway (from 50 to 1 100 clients in the period 1997–2001), Finland (from 10 to 240 clients in the period 1996–2001) and Spain (from 12 000 to 72 000 clients in the period 1993–99). Drugfree treatment slots are not recorded in the same systematic and quantitative manner but they rose, for example, in Denmark (from one specialised drug therapeutic community in 1994 to around 35 in 1999) and in Greece (from one specialised drug therapeutic community in 1983 to eight in 1999).

The increase in treatment facilities is not only welcome but needed to tackle the problem of drug addiction in Europe. However, there are still reports from Greece and Portugal, for example, that the supply of treatment does not meet the demands of clients, and research on a systematic matching of clients to treatment has not been very conclusive. These crucial matters must be dealt with in order to improve the responses to drug addiction and to improve treatment outcomes (⁵¹).

Criminal-justice responses

Judicial authorities in EU countries dispose of a range of measures at different stages of the criminal-justice system to divert into treatment drug users who have committed Denmark was shelved by the Ministry of Health in 2000 as a result of international conventions dealing with this matter. A survey in Austria (Feistritzer, 2001), where the establishment of a drug consumption facility (health room) has been discussed for several years, showed more favourable attitudes among the general public towards injection rooms in 2001 (28 %) than in 1997 (20 %).

Objectives, services provided and the utilisation of consumption rooms have been described in several studies, which '... provide some evidence in relation to the four main expected benefits of such facilities: reduced public nuisance; improved access and uptake of health and other welfare services; reduced opioid-related overdose risk; and reduced risk of blood-borne virus transmission' (Dolan et al., 2000). The EMCDDA is currently preparing a summary of the experiences, challenges and lessons learned from drug consumption facilities.

a criminal offence (⁵²). An increasing effort among Member States can be noted to better document the available range of measures, to map their level of application and to evaluate their efficiency. These initiatives are relevant for the assessment of progress with regard to Target 5 of the European Union drugs strategy — 'to reduce substantially over five years the number of drug-related crimes' — insofar as alternative measures are ultimately aimed at a reduction in criminal recidivism and relapse into drug use among drug-using offenders. Some examples are given below.

Referral to treatment

Arrest-referral schemes and 'drug treatment and testing order schemes' (DTTOs) have been found useful in the United Kingdom to increase the number of drug-using offenders in treatment. Research has demonstrated that the crisis of arrest is an important opportunity to target drug-misusing offenders with prevention and treatment services (DPAS, 2000) and it is planned to extend the schemes to all police forces in the country by May 2002. The first evaluation of DTTOs (carried out 18 months after they were set up) found a reduction in the amount of money spent on drugs and of the number of offences committed (Turnbull and Sweeney, 2000) and they were subsequently introduced in October 2000 after the successful pilot phase.

⁽⁵¹⁾ Successful treatment is one of the selected issues covered in Chapter 3 of this report.

⁽⁵²⁾ See also: Drugs in focus, Briefing 2, EMCDDA Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2002.

An experimental four-year project on treatment for local criminal addicts conducted in The Hague (Netherlands), consisting of detoxification and aftercare, showed an encouraging level of 40 % of programme participants abstaining from drug use in the two years following the intervention but also a high interrelation of positive outcomes to continuous treatment (Vermeulen et al., 1999). An evaluation of the treatment order policy injonction thérapeutique in France (Setbon et al., 2000) showed, however, a lack of effectiveness. A drug court, which provides a scheme for the rehabilitation and structured supervision of persons who committed minor drug offences, was established in Ireland in January 2001 on a pilot basis. It should be noted, however, that so far neither the DTTOs in the UK or the Irish drug court have been subject to a more rigorous evaluation, using randomised controlled trials.

Treatment in prison

This item is covered in Chapter 3 of this report in the selected issue 'Drug use in prison' (page 46).

Probation

Release on probation is a measure that is available under certain conditions to convicted offenders in all EU countries, but some jurisdictions define special conditions for drug users. Attempts to analyse the outcome of these alternative measures are still very scarce. However, in Italy, an analysis of the revocation of probation awarded to drug-using offenders found low rates: of a sample of 4 237 drug users under probation supervision in the first half of 2000, only 253 (6 %) had their sentence revoked and were sent to prison.

Further evaluation studies of referral to care instead of punishment (Finland), treatment in the correctional system (Sweden), treatment of criminal addicts outside prisons (Denmark), and forensic addiction care (the Netherlands) are still under way. Luxembourg's new global drug care programme will have an important evaluation component right from its start in mid-2002. All prison-based treatment programmes in the United Kingdom are currently in the process of quality evaluation to obtain their official accreditation.

A literature survey about the effectiveness of judicial sanction programmes in general (Beenakkers, 2000), commissioned by the Dutch Ministry of the Interior, concluded that effectiveness depends on adjacent interventions or treatments, and advises the use of cognitive-behavioural approaches and 'stepped care' arrangements to reduce recidivism. The latter finding was confirmed by further specific reviews carried out in the Netherlands in 1998 and 1999, which focused on measures directed at drug-using offenders.

Supply reduction

Drug production and drug trafficking in the European Union 2000/01 remain the primary activities of criminal groups in the EU (Europol, 2001). These groups are taking full advantage of the opportunities created by a globalising market economy, including the use of modern technologies. They tend to be engaged in more than one type of crime, not limiting their activities to one single type of drug, as reflected by the increasing number of polydrug seizures.

Combating organised drug trafficking is a priority for Member States. An effort to improve database systems and crime analysis techniques, together with the assignment of additional resources, is taking place in several Member States. At the same time there is increased development of international cooperation, involving some international organisations as well as Interpol and the World Customs Organisation (WCO).

Increased international cooperation is resulting in the establishment of specific task forces, such as the one created with a view to pooling and processing all information regarding drug trafficking along the Silk Route, currently involving Interpol, Europol, the World Customs Organisation and the German Bundeskriminalamt (BKA). Under this scheme, the BKA is carrying out analyses based on information provided by other members of the task force. Another example is 'Operation Road Runner II', funded by the European Commission, aiming at surveillance action to combat drug trafficking along the Balkan route. This has resulted in the seizure of significant amounts of drugs, with the participation of the 15 EU Member States and 13 central and east European countries (see http://www.europol.eu.int).

Fighting against the diversion of chemical products and precursors under control is an important part of the increased international cooperation. It is believed that 1 500 tonnes of acetic anhydride out of an annual global production of 2.5 million tonnes are being diverted for heroin processing. About 20 % of the global output of acetic anhydride is produced in the European Union.

'Operation Topaz', an action against the diversion of acetic anhydride includes a system aimed at identifying the origin of seized chemicals. This operation has enabled the intervention of 11 shipments with almost 230 tonnes of acetic anhydride which could have been used in the production of between 55 and 230 tonnes of heroin. The volume of international legal trade represented some 180 000 tonnes in 2001. As most of the shipments do not go directly from producer to consumer countries, additional resources to guarantee an adequate level of surveillance are required. The INCB (International Narcotics Control Board) has noticed that some key national authorities, such as the Dutch ones, which control a large proportion of transit operations, have significantly increased their resources for this purpose (see http://www.undcp.org).

The international surveillance programme concerning potassium permanganate has led to the confiscation of 1 100 tonnes of this chemical. Surveillance programmes concerning potassium permanganate have led to a situation in which export notifications from the main exporting countries have to be communicated beforehand. 'Operation Purple', which started in 2000, continued to increase its results during 2001, with 17 shipments to the illicit market stopped, representing 1100 chemical tonnes. In 2000, 13 shipments were stopped and some 655 tonnes were seized. The volume of international legal trade relating to potassium permanganate during 2001 represents some 19 000 tonnes. The volume in 2000 was 11 000 tonnes. This programme has also allowed new methods and new routeing concerning the diversion of this chemical to be identified, without imposing undue delays to licit international trade. However, the INCB has noticed a constant increase in the number and the volume of shipments towards countries not participating in 'Operation Purple' (see the INCB 2001 report on precursors (http://www.undcp.org)).

International customs cooperation and the activities of the OECD Financial Action Task Force (FATF) play a very important role in measures against money laundering. In November 2000, the United Nations Convention against Organised Transborder Criminality acknowledged the importance of measures concerning detection and surveillance of the flow of transborder cash and bonds. The importance of cash flows related to drug trafficking has been acknowledged by international organisations cooperating against money laundering (see the FATF report 2001/02 (http://www.oecd.org/FATF)). One example of the significance of regional cooperation is 'Operation Goldfinger', involving customs authorities in the Baltic region, devoted to collecting information relating to operations of more than USD 10 000. The main conclusions to be drawn from this operation are the deterrent effect that regional customs cooperation has on money-laundering activities and the great divergences that exist in national legislation concerning cash flows (see the 2000 customs and drugs report (http://www.wcoomd.org)).

The main FATF activities have been related to spreading the message of anti-money-laundering to all continents

and regions of the globe, to improve members' implementations of the 40 FATF recommendations adopted in 1990 and modified in 1996, and to strengthen the review of money-laundering methods and counter-measures. In June 2000, the FATF began its non-cooperative countries and territories exercise (NCCT), aiming to identify the countries and jurisdiction that do not meet the FATF antimoney-laundering criteria. The FATF has also fostered the creation and strengthening of FATF regional-style bodies. The annual survey of money-laundering typologies, chaired by Norway in 2001, focused on a number of major issues such as: online banking and Internet casinos; trusts; non-corporate vehicles and money laundering; lawyers, notaries, accountants and other professionals; the role of cash in money-laundering schemes; and terroristrelated money laundering. Finally, the European Central Bank and Europol were granted observer status within the FATF (see http://www.oecd.org/FATF).

References and sources for Chapter 2

National reports on the drug situation (2001) from all EU Member States and Norway.

Beenakkers, E. M. Th. (2000): Effectiviteit van sanctieprogramma's: bouwstenen voor een toetsingskader; Een literatuuronderzoek (Onderzoeksnotities 2000/1), Den Haag, Ministerie van Justitie/Wetenschappelijk Onderzoeks- en documentatiecentrum (WODC) (*).

Dolan, K., Kimber, J., Fry, C., Fitzgerald, J., Mcdonald, D. and Trautmann, F. (2000): 'Drug consumption facilities in Europe and the establishment of supervised injection centres in Australia', *Drug and Alcohol Review*, Vol. 19, pp. 337–346.

DPAS, Home Office Drugs Prevention Advisory Service (2000): 'Criminal Justice — a golden opportunity', *Access*, No 1, pp. 1–2.

EMCDDA (2002): *Drugs in focus*, Briefing 2: Drug users and the law in the EU, EMCDDA, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.

EMCDDA (2002) *Drugs in focus,* Briefing 4: Injecting drug use, EMCDDA, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.

European Network on HIV/AIDS and Hepatitis Prevention in Prisons (2001): *Final progress report,* Bonn and Marseille.

Europol (2001): European Union situation report on drug production and drug trafficking, 2000–01, Europol, The Hague.

Feistritzer, G. (2001): Suchtmittel und Drogenpolitik. Bevölkerungsbefragung Wien, February 2001, IFES, Vienna.

Hope, V., Judd, A., Hickman, M. et al. (2001): 'Prevalence of hepatitis C among injection drug users in England and Wales: Is harm reduction working?', *American Journal of Public Health*, Vol. 91(1), pp. 38–42.

Hunt, N., Stillwell, G., Taylor, C. and Griffiths, P. (1998): 'Evaluation of a brief intervention to reduce initiation into injecting', *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*, Vol. 5(2), pp. 185–194.

Hunt, N., Britton, J., Derricott, J. and Preston, A. (2001): *Making harm reduction work: harm reduction and injecting drug users,* DrugScope, Department of Health and University of Kent, London and Canterbury.

Hunter, G. M., Stimson, G. V., Judd, A., Jones, S. and Hickman, M. (2000): 'Measuring injecting risk behaviour in the second

2002 Annual report on the state of the drugs problem in the European Union and Norway

decade of harm reduction: a survey of injecting drug users in England', *Addiction*, Vol. 95, pp. 1351–1361.

Setbon, M. and De Calan, J. (2000): L'injonction thérapeutique: évaluation du dispositif légal de prise en charge des usagers de drogues interpellé, CNRS-GAPP/OFDT, Paris (*).

Skolverket (2000): 'Undervisningen om tobak, alkohol och andra droger', *Nationella kvalitetsgranskningar 1999*, Skolverket, Stockholm.

Smyth, B., McMahon, J., O'Connor, J. and Ryan, J. (1999): 'Knowledge regarding hepatitis C among injecting drug users', *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*, Vol. 6(2), pp. 257–264 (*).

Stöver, H. (2002): 'Consumption rooms — Between health orientation and public order', *Journal of Drug Issues* (forthcoming).

Turnbull, P., Mc Sweeney, T. and Hough, M. (2000): 'Drug treatment and testing orders — the 18-month evaluation', *Research Findings No 128*, Home Office Research, Development and Statistics Directorate, London.

Vermeulen, K. T., Hendriks, V. M. and Zomerveld, R. (1999): Drangbehandeling in Den Haag: Evaluatieonderzoek naar de effectiviteit van het behandelprogramma Triple-Ex voor justitiabele verslaafden, Den Haag, Parnassia Addiction Research Centre (PARC) (*).

Wiessing, L. G., Denis, B., Guttormsson, U. et al. (2001): Estimating coverage of harm reduction measures for injection drug users in the European Union', *Proceedings of 2000 global research network meeting on HIV prevention in drug-using populations. Third annual meeting, Durban, South Africa, 5–7 July 2000*, National Institute on Drug Abuse; National Institutes of Health; US Department of Health and Human Services.

Winstock, A. R., Wolff, K. and Ramsey, J. (2001): 'Ecstasy pill testing: harm minimisation gone too far?' *Addiction*, Vol. 96, pp. 1139–1148.

WHO (1998): *Opioid overdose: trends, risk factors, interventions and priorities for action,* World Health Organisation, Programme on Substance Abuse, Division of Mental Health and Prevention of Substance Abuse, Geneva.

(*) = reference cited in national report.

Chapter

Selected issues

This chapter highlights three specific issues relating to the drug problem in Europe: polydrug use, successful treatment and drug use in prison.

Polydrug use

The broad definition of 'polydrug' used by many Member States is the use of more than one drug or type of drug by an individual — consumed at the same time or sequentially (as defined in the WHO lexicon). In Europe, the concept of polydrug use dates back to the 1970s. In its broadest terms, polydrug use is defined as the use of an illegal drug plus another legal or illegal drug. However, considerable differences exist in the substances included and in the time frames employed by different Member States. Differences appear to depend on the survey data available and on the perceptions of risk associated with particular substances or combinations. The substances included are usually the main illegal drugs, alcohol and medicines. Energy drinks are sometimes included and France includes tobacco. Time frames for consumption range from a six-hour period to ever experienced during an individual's lifetime.

According to the broad definition, all illegal drug users would be defined as polydrug users as they almost always use alcohol and/or tobacco at some time in their life. Even when polydrug use is defined according to the more narrow range of 'illegal drugs', the combinations and patterns of use vary so much that there is little value in adopting a standard definition. For the purposes of addressing general concerns about polydrug use in the EU, we take acute risks for health as a main focus.

There is general consensus that polydrug use has four main functions: it maximises effects, balances or controls negative effects and substitutes sought after effects. Information about the functions of combining particular drugs is based on descriptions by users of attempts to have, and prolong, pleasurable experiences (Seppälä, 1999; Strang et al., 1993). The substances that are used depend on local availability, fashion and local prescribing practices where they include medical drugs prescribed to drug users in treatment (in Germany, France, Ireland and the United Kingdom).

Health risks

The combinations of drugs identified in mortality and overdoses provide indications of particular risks associated with drug combinations (see box below).

Health risks associated with combinations of psychotropic substances depend not only on the pharmacological properties and amounts of the substances consumed but also on a range of individual characteristics and social and environmental factors.

Examples of drug combinations considered high risk

- Whilst it is difficult to overdose on benzodiazepines alone, the combination of a large dose of benzodiazepines and a large dose of alcohol or an opiate drug such as heroin or methadone may be fatal.
- When ecstasy is used with alcohol, health risks increase because alcohol impairs thermal regulation and increases dehydration.
- When cocaine is combined with alcohol, the combination may be more directly toxic to the heart and liver than either cocaine or alcohol alone. Alcohol is often present in cocaine cardiac deaths.
- The combined use of different stimulants, including energy drinks, can lead to sympathetic hyperactivity that may result in impaired thermal regulation and cardiac functioning.

Sources: Leccese et al. (2000), DrugScope (2001).

In the context of 'early-warning systems', there is growing concern about the potential mixture of psychoactive substances in tablets sold as ecstasy, which, despite the lack of intention on the part of users, may constitute polydrug health risks. For example, in Denmark during 2001 a range of 10 to 32 % of tablets analysed contained more than one active substance. These tablets primarily contained MDMA and PMA, PMMA, MDE and MDA. In France, two thirds of an analysed sample of tablets sold as ecstasy contained MDMA combined with other active ingredients — mostly medicaments.

Fatal and non-fatal overdose

During the last decade, press attention on drug deaths has focused mainly on rare cases of ecstasy death (Belgium, Denmark, Italy and the United Kingdom). Press interest is not generally captured by the death of problem drug users. The large proportion of the 7 000 to 8 000 acute drug deaths (overdoses) recorded in the EU each year are males who have been using opiates for several years (see the 'Drug-related deaths' section).

Results of toxicological analyses of fatal and non-fatal overdoses associated (53) with illegal drug use are not widely available but those that are consistently reveal that most of the deaths are associated with the injecting of heroin combined with other drugs. A recent study of 153 drug users in the United Kingdom who had experienced non-fatal overdose found that more than one drug had been used in 111 (73 %) of cases (Neale 2001). In fatal overdoses, at least one other drug or alcohol is involved in over 50 % of cases in the United Kingdom and up to 90 % in Ireland. Benzodiazepines, alcohol, methadone and cocaine are the substances most frequently found combined with opiates and a common explanation for the overdose in question is that these combinations caused it (ONS, 2000a and b; Farrell, 1989; Bennet and Higgins, 1999; Strang et al., 1999; Taylor et al., 1996) (54).

Deaths associated with cocaine, amphetamine or MDMA (ecstasy) without the presence of opiates or benzodiazapines are infrequent and are usually combined with other drugs or alcohol.

Other risks

Polydrug use is also considered to be a particularly high risk for dangerous driving but EU data on drugs and driving is very limited. Violent or aggressive behaviour has recently been associated with patterns of increased use of alcohol combined with stimulant drugs (Snippe and Bieleman, 1997; Vermaas, 1999).

Trends

In some countries, the number of fatalities that constitute the most serious consequences of polydrug use are still increasing. The substances detected most often were combinations of morphine, benzodiazapine and alcohol, with recent national or local increases in cocaine reported in Spain, France, Italy, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom (see the 'Drug-related deaths' section for more details).

Concern about groups at risk

Social and public concern associated with patterns of polydrug use generally focuses on two groups that are distinct with regard to the type of substances and combinations they use and the environments where their consumption occurs.

- The greatest scientifically evidenced health risk occurs among problem drug users, particularly those who inject opiates and other drugs.
- Media and general public concern also exists about the risk of death and overdose for recreational drug users who are not addicts and whose consumption of illegal drugs is mostly limited to specific social settings or a certain phase in their lives. This concern is disproportionate in view of the relatively limited number of deaths.

For problem users, the number and characteristics of clients seeking treatment in the specialised centres in Europe are used as an indirect indicator. For recreational drug users, the results of a large European survey of recreational drug users in nine European cities and a number of ad hoc 'clubbers' surveys are available.

Problem drug users

Since the 1970s, problem drug users have been shown to adjust the ingredients of their drug menus according to the availability of drugs on the market and at different stages in their lives. They may substitute the unavailable substance with another, not necessarily of the same type (Haw, 1993; Strang et al., 1993; Fountain et al., 1999).

^{(&}lt;sup>53</sup>) A drug is deemed implicated, or associated, when it is proven positive at toxicology or when evidence was presented that the drug had been consumed prior to death. This is not to infer that the drug is the cause of death. It may imply the drug(s) as being a contributory factor in the death.

⁽⁵⁴⁾ Table 12 OL provides an example of the number of drugs implicated in opiate deaths in Ireland (online version).

Selected issues





Polydrug use among clients in treatment

At European level, treatment data provide information on primary and secondary drugs: the primary drug is the 'drug that causes the client the most problems' (⁵⁵) and the secondary drugs are the next most problematic drugs after that. The European information system on treatment, based on the Treatment Demand Indicator (TDI) protocol, which registers up to four substances used by each person, could be taken as an indirect indication of problematic polydrug use (⁵⁶), although it is limited to users in treatment.

Most clients in treatment use secondary drugs combined with their main drug (83.2 %) (Figure 23). Many countries report an increase in polydrug use (⁵⁷).

The most common patterns of problematic polydrug use are: heroin combined with other opiates such as diverted methadone or with benzodiazepines; heroin combined with cocaine, cannabis and stimulants or alcohol; and cocaine used with alcohol or stimulants (⁵⁸).

The patterns of use change markedly among countries and sexes. The available data show that in some countries a single pattern prevails, whilst others present different drug combinations. From the available data, homogeneous patterns seem to be found in some countries, for example, in Greece and Italy for primary drug distribution, where heroin is used simultaneously with hypnotics, sedatives, other opiates or cannabis. In Spain and the Netherlands, where the proportion of clients seeking treatment for cocaine as primary drug is rather high, cocaine also frequently appears as a secondary drug combined with heroin or stimulants.

As far as gender distribution is concerned, polydrug users in treatment are mainly men, especially among those using heroin combined with opiates and cocaine or alcohol; a higher proportion of women is found among those using stimulants with cannabis, stimulants, and other substances (hypnotics/sedatives, volatiles) ⁽⁵⁹⁾.

Persons accompanying their main drug with cannabis are mainly aged between 15 and 24; the polydrug users of opiates and cocaine are older (20–39) and those who use other drugs simultaneously with alcohol are the oldest polydrug users in treatment (⁶⁰).

From the data available, the following patterns of use among clients in treatment can be identified:

- older clients, mainly males, using opiates as the main drug combined with other opiates, or cannabis;
- younger clients, males and females, using cannabis and stimulants combined with alcohol or other substances (such as hallucinogens);
- males, under 30, using cocaine combined with alcohol and other stimulants; and
- males, 20-39, using heroin and cocaine.

⁽⁵⁵⁾ In the Treatment Demand Indicator standard protocol 2.0, item 14, primary drug is defined as the 'drug that causes the client the most problems' and item 19, other (= secondary) drug in addition to primary drug, as an indication of multiple drug use (see the web site http://www.emcdda.eu.int/multimedia/project_reports/situation/treatment_indicator_report.pdf).

^{(&}lt;sup>56</sup>) Countries where data were available on this topic were: Belgium, Spain, Greece, Italy, the Netherlands, Sweden and Finland.

⁽⁵⁷⁾ See Reitox national reports, 'Treatment demand' section, Chapter 1, Figure 6, 'All clients admitted to treatment'.

⁽⁵⁸⁾ Figure 16 OL: Common patterns in the combination of drugs: most problematic drug used together with secondary drug(s) (online version).

⁽⁵⁹⁾ Figure 17 OL: Second most problematic drug by gender (% on the total, by drug) (online version).

⁽⁶⁰⁾ Figure 18 OL: Second most problematic drug, by age (online version).

2002 Annual report on the state of the drugs problem in the European Union and Norway



Recreational drug users

Prevalence of polydrug use is higher among young people in dance club settings than among young people in other settings, particularly the use of alcohol, cannabis and stimulant drugs (Calafat et al., 1999; ESPAD, 2000). There is also some evidence that, across Europe in general, prevalence of recreational polydrug use is higher among males and regular users of cannabis than it is among females and cannabis experimenters, although there are geographical differences. A large European study of drug users in targeted nightlife settings in 1998 showed that approximately half of all drug users in the techno party scene reported that they combined alcohol and cannabis, followed by alcohol and ecstasy, and cannabis and ecstasy (Calafat et al., 1999). Table 1 shows that recreational drug use is heavily dominated by alcohol. The majority of leisure-time drug users do not consume large quantities of illegal drugs and alcohol in combination. However, studies suggest that the proportion of people adopting 'heavy' patterns of drug use is increasing and there are growing concerns about the health risks and potential long-term damage from specif-

_				-
	-	h		- 1
	α	D.	IC.	_

Drug combinations used by recreational drug users in the same night			
	%		
Alcohol and cannabis	50.6		
Alcohol and ecstasy	11.9		
Alcohol and cannabis and ecstasy	10.4		
Cannabis and ecstasy	8.4		
Alcohol and cocaine	7.8		
Cannabis and ecstasy, alcohol and cocaine	7.8		
Cannabis, alcohol and cocaine	2		

Source: Calafat et al. (1999).

ic patterns of recreational drug use (Club Health, 2002; Hunt, 2002; McElrath and McEvoy, 1999; Reitox).

Heavy polydrug use in leisure-time settings is associated with repeated exposure to drug availability and positive images of drug combinations among peers. However, heavy drug use is generally confined to particular social events, holiday periods or during particularly social and outgoing phases in life (Bellis et al., 2000).

An increase in heroin smoking has been reported by some Member States (France and Italy). In recent years, there have been particular concerns about people smoking heroin to come down from ecstasy but the evidence for this is mixed or contradictory. For example, studies in treatment and prison settings in Ireland report that over half of the drug users interviewed had smoked heroin to 'come down' off ecstasy whilst surveys of recreational drug users and school students aged 15–16 show that heroin still has a very negative image (ESPAD, 2000).

Local market

Little research has been conducted on drug markets in the EU and it is therefore not possible to provide accurate details on the combinations of drugs available on local markets.

In terms of 'marketplaces', in the United Kingdom there are regular media reports of ecstasy, amphetamine, cocaine powder and cannabis dealing in clubs and bars for the clubbing population. However, research in the Netherlands has shown that many young clubbers obtain their drugs via friends rather than dealers. Some of the marketplaces patronised by those who buy and sell heroin, crack cocaine and prescription drugs (such as ben-

Selected issues

zodiazepines) are well known, but are usually separate from those for clubbers. Different substances are sold in different marketplaces: some concentrate on diverted prescription drugs whilst others trade primarily in heroin and/or crack cocaine. In the case of diverted prescribed drugs, distribution is conducted by a large number of people each selling some or all of their own prescribed drugs (Edmunds et al., 1996; Fountain et al., 1999).

Polydrug use interventions

Two distinct target groups can be defined for which interventions are designed: older problem polydrug users and young recreational drug users.

Older problem polydrug users

In the context of older problem polydrug users, prevention of drug-related harm is of importance due to the possible unexpected consequences. Interventions include providing drug users with adequate knowledge on the effects of specific drugs and the consequences of multiple drug use and how to handle drug emergencies.

Polydrug use has shown to be more difficult to treat than single drug use. Member States do not report specific treatment programmes for particular drug combinations but nearly all services are open to polydrug users. The focus is on behaviour rather than substances. However, in acute treatment and in withdrawal, polydrug use might be very relevant.

The combination of heroin and benzodiazepines has implications for the efficacy of treatment. If opiate use is being addressed while coexisting benzodiazepine use is neglected, there is potential for reducing the efficacy of substitution treatment, for example with methadone. In the United Kingdom, the official prescribing guidelines (Department of Health et al., 1999) stress that stimulants should not be prescribed to polydrug users.

In all countries except Sweden, a considerable problem consists in getting substances other than opiates under control in medically assisted treatment, for example with methadone. In countries other than Sweden, the advantage of having regular contact with drug users in substitution programmes is obviously considered more important than the disadvantage of concurrent use of other drugs. In Sweden, however, polydrug users are not accepted in methadone treatment irrespective of the seriousness of the heroin problem.

Psychiatric comorbidity is often diagnosed in polydrug users. Denmark, the Netherlands, Austria, and Sweden report on a high and possibly increasing number of polydrug users admitted to psychiatric hospitals. There is little research on the effectiveness of the treatment of polydrug users. Generally, the adjustment of treatment to each specific case contributes to treatment success. The UK NTORS study found that after one year, opiate users who were frequent users of stimulants at intake showed marked improvements in terms of reduced levels of opiate **and** stimulant use (Gossop et al, 1998). Greece reports that substitution programmes claim that the treatment interventions contribute to a reduction in polydrug use (Kethea — NSPH, 2001).

The development of special treatment programmes for specific groups such as polydrug users is considered a need in the German national report, and the United Kingdom suggests disseminating examples of good practice. Finland states the need for training, and some activities to train treatment staff in dealing with polydrug users are already under way.

Recreational drug users

Some countries (Spain, France and Italy) have launched broad mass-media campaigns to warn against multiple drug use in recreational settings. In Italy, the campaign was supported by local initiatives at major youth events. Specific substances are not always mentioned and the consequences of use are not clearly spelled out. In other countries (Belgium, Germany, the Netherlands, Austria and the United Kingdom) these health warnings and advice are passed through drug workers or peers and self-help groups.

Pill-testing projects may inform users about dangerous and unexpected pill contents on site, by magazines and posters or through the Internet. For example, in autumn 2000, Austrian *ChEck iT!* found several pills sold as ecstasy containing PMA/PMMA and immediately put out warnings on site and through the Internet (Kriener et al., 2001). In November 2001, the Dutch DIMS project, for example, provided a rapid alert about pills containing PMA.

Treatment for users of several drugs in the recreational scene is virtually non-existent. One reason could be that most drug services are only equipped to deal with opiate and severe dependence problems.

Policy issues

The rituals and social controls polydrug users employ to achieve the sought-after effects whilst simultaneously reducing risk need to be studied for better understanding of the social and environmental circumstances that contribute to risk among different drug-using groups (Boys et al., 2000; Decorte, 1999; Akram and Galt, 1999).

Prevention, especially in recreational settings should include clear guidance and advice on risks involved in

2002 Annual report on the state of the drugs problem in the European Union and Norway

multiple drug use. More evidence-based knowledge is needed to ascertain the best possible care for polydrug users and especially for problem drug users with mental disorders.

For better understanding of pharmacotoxicological risks from specific combinations, a priority is for clinicians to follow up patients with suspected drug intoxications and to provide evidence-based information about acute and long-term damage to health.

Successful treatment

In the EU action plan on drugs (2000–04), the third strategy target is 'to increase substantially the number of successfully treated addicts'. No aggregated data exist at European level to directly measure the level of achievement of this objective. However, many evaluations have been carried out across Europe exploring if and what type of treatment works. Findings on successful treatment are presented here according to the type of treatment intervention: withdrawal treatment, drug-free treatment and medically assisted treatment. The success criteria vary between the different types of treatment and are also related to social reintegration and rehabilitation after treatment.

Withdrawal treatment

Withdrawal treatment, or detoxification, is generally considered the first step in a complete treatment process. This intervention aims, firstly, at arriving at a stage where the client is physically drug free and no longer craves for illegal drugs and, secondly, at transferring or referring the client to drug-free treatment. In Sweden and Finland, this process is a prerequisite for starting methadone treatment.

Evaluations of withdrawal treatment have been carried out across the Member States and Norway but nevertheless, globally, it is the least evaluated type of treatment intervention. Overall, withdrawal treatment with medicaments such as Naltrexone, clonidine, lofexidine and buprenorphine have proved effective in decreasing withdrawal signs and symptoms, although the effect on different kinds of withdrawal symptom varies between medicaments (Greenstein et al., 1997). Methadone is widely used for treating withdrawal symptoms although research findings suggest that methadone's strength lies in maintenance therapy.

Withdrawal treatment with no use of medicaments, also known as 'cold turkey', exists although its extent is not really known. Nor are there any reports on the effects and outcomes of non-medically based withdrawal treatment compared to medically assisted withdrawal treatment. The recently emerged concept of rapid detoxification with Naltrexone under full narcosis (sometimes referred to as 'turbo withdrawal treatment') should be investigated in more depth.

One intervention in Portugal which combined the delivery of naltrexone and psychotherapy found that after three months there were notable improvements in sociodemographic and psychological variables as well as in risk behaviour (Costa, 2000). An experiment in Germany detoxified methadone users with naltrexone under full narcosis. The patients' satisfaction was fair but as many as 50 % reported severe discomfort in the first month following the intervention. Six months after discharge one third of the patients had not consumed hard drugs (Tretter et al., 2001).

Although some withdrawal treatment interventions have been subject to evaluation, more in-depth knowledge is needed on the pros and cons of the different modalities and on which type of withdrawal treatment should be used for which type of patient.

Drug-free treatment

Drug-free treatment applies physic-social techniques in its aim for the client to become, first, abstinent and, then, long-term free of drug craving. The primary success criterion used for drug-free treatment is the completion of treatment as planned drug free, although others such as improvements in psychological, social and economic well-being are also essential. Important 'spin-off' effects are a reduction in crime and risk behaviour as well as an improvement in the health and general welfare of the client.

Evaluations of drug-free treatment interventions have shown that, to a greater or lesser extent, it succeeds in fulfilling these objectives (Gossop et al., 2001). Evaluation results fluctuate greatly, but generally 30 to 50 % of clients entering drug-free treatment complete it successfully. A Danish study concluded that, depending on the kind of drug-free treatment interventions, successful completion rates spanned from 17 to 58 % of the clients entering treatment (Pedersen, 2000).

Another widely acknowledged notion is that treatment duration is closely linked to treatment outcome or, in other words, the longer the time spent in drug-free treatment the better. This idea is backed up by a German study which suggested that retention rates/duration in drug-free treatment correlate with its outcomes (Sonntag and Künzel J., 2000). Some research has tried to identify the threshold at which successful treatment outcomes are likely to increase. One study found that clients

Selected issues

staying in drug-free inpatient treatment for 90 days achieved better outcomes — in terms of abstinence from opiates, stimulants and in the reduction of injecting drug use — one year after discharge than those who left earlier (Gossop et al., 1998). This is confirmed by a Greek study which found that those clients who left treatment within the first three months only decreased heroin consumption after discharge by 11 % compared with 76 % for those who stayed at least a year (Kethea, 2001).

Regarding the issue of long-term effectiveness, an Austrian study concluded that a treatment scheme with a focus on social and psychotherapy interventions markedly increased the social competence and the subjective satisfaction of the clients, which results in their long-term stability (Wirth, 2001).

The National Treatment Outcome Research Study (NTORS) was established in 1994 at the request of the British Minister of Health to assess the effectiveness of drug misuse treatment services in the United Kingdom. NTORS recruited 1075 clients for the project in 1995 and followed them for five consecutive years. A random stratified sample of 650 clients was selected and followed in four different treatment modalities: inpatient, residential rehabilitation, methadone reduction or methadone maintenance. The main finding of the study is that treated individuals do improve on outcome parameters such as drugs intake, injection frequency, needle sharing and psychological health. The total aggregated cohort showed statistically significant improvements in heroin intake - around 75 % had regular heroin use at intake compared to around 40 % four to five years on. Regular use of non-prescribed methadone had gone down from around 30 % at intake to under 10 % and needle sharing had decreased from around 20 % at intake to around 5 %. Scorings on psychological health also showed statistically significant improvement between the state at intake and the state four to five years on.

Drug-free treatment has been evaluated across Europe applying different methodologies, and substantial insights have been gained especially over the last decade. However, there are still areas where further research is needed to respond to phenomena that have recently emerged. One example is on the efficiency of drug-free treatment for predominant cocaine users and amphetamine users as well as other specific sub-populations. Furthermore, there are few large-scale studies on how many remain drug free in a longer-term perspective after the successful completion of treatment.

Medically assisted treatment

Medically assisted treatment (which includes substitution treatment) uses agonist or antagonistic medicaments in

its therapy of clients. Agonist medicaments (e.g. methadone) activate the opiate receptors in the brain and antagonistic medicaments (e.g. naltrexone) limit or eliminate the effect of other illicit drugs taken. The aim of medically assisted treatment can be abstinence but may also be to maintain the client in long-term medical treatment. Whether the end goal be to achieve abstinence or to reduce the harmful effects of drug addiction, common interim goals include: reducing the consumption of illegal drugs and the risk of infectious diseases; improving the mental and physical state of the client; and reducing drug-related crime.

Methadone maintenance is the most widely diffused type of medically assisted treatment. As 'maintenance' implies, the objective of this type of intervention treatment is not abstinence but to keep the client in maintenance treatment thereby reducing criminal activity and risk behaviour (and consequently the risk of the acquiring infectious diseases), as well as improving health and social functioning.

Medically assisted treatment has been widely evaluated across Europe and has generally proved effective in achieving goals such as reducing the consumption of illegal drugs, risk behaviour and crime. In particular, medically assisted treatment interventions with methadone have been evaluated and found effective in relation to these goals (Lowinson et al., 1997; EMCDDA, 2000), although buprenorphine has proved effective too. One structured literature review of buprenorphine trials found that its main strength was in lowering the risk of overdosing and lowering the level of parallel illicit drug use (Berglund et al., 2001). For both methadone and buprenorphine, sufficient dosages have shown to be imperative to ensuring positive outcomes.

Despite these apparent 'successes', some countries consider that neither methadone nor buprenorphine have sufficiently improved the general welfare of particularly deprived street addicts and have sought other alternatives.

In February 2002, the findings of a Dutch randomised controlled trial with co-prescription of heroin for methadone clients were published. The target groups of the intervention were severely addicted, older, heroin users who had not benefited sufficiently from methadone maintenance treatment. In order to define this target group, a predefined set of inclusion and exclusion criteria were established and subjects were selected from the local methadone maintenance treatment registration system. A total of 625 patients treated in six units located around the Netherlands were selected and randomly divided into an experimental group and control group. First, the patients

2002 Annual report on the state of the drugs problem in the European Union and Norway

were divided according to their route of administration, inhaling or injecting, and then subdivided according to the intervention — those receiving only methadone and those receiving a combination of methadone and heroin. The main finding of the study was that for severely addicted, older, heroin users methadone plus heroin was more effective than treatment with methadone alone, irrespective of the route of administration. The study furthermore showed that at the end of the trial, 30 % of the clients in the experimental group no longer met the inclusion criteria (their general condition having improved considerably), whereas it was only 11 % in the control group (van den Brink et al., 2002).

In Germany, a trial with the prescription of medical heroin for opiate addicts has been developed and refined over the past couple of years. The trial which began in spring 2002 will last for three years with seven German cities participating. The main question to be answered is if and under which condition the prescription of heroin for an extremely deprived group of opiate addicts can contribute to improving their situation in terms of health, social and legal aspects. The patients in the trial will be divided randomly into an experimental group and a control group. These groups will be further divided into two groups receiving different types of psycho-social intervention - one group 'case management' and the other 'psycho-education'. The study is expected to provide further insights on psycho-social intervention and its efficiency in the treatment of opioid addiction (http://www.heroinstudie.de/).

In Denmark, an alternative to a heroin project was launched for 2000–02 with the aim of initiating special pilot projects for drug addicts in methadone treatment, involving massive psycho-social activities. The qualitative and quantitative evaluation will study the extent to which results can be achieved in the form of better social, health-related and mental functioning, reduction of drug use, reduction of infectious diseases and crime, as well as an extension of network relations.

Conclusions and future perspectives

Success depends on the purpose of a given treatment intervention and consequently that success should be assessed in accordance with the pre-established objectives. There is already a considerable wealth of research that, when comparing objectives with outcomes, has enabled insight and knowledge to be gained on the effectiveness and/or success of various types of treatment.

It is, for instance, an important outcome that retention rates are crucial for treatment outcomes or 'success', but knowledge needs to be gathered on how to keep clients in treatment or, in other words, on which elements in treatment are crucial for increasing the retention rate. Identifying the 'active ingredient' in any kind of treatment is a difficult task and it is essential to improve the performance of treatment services, thereby improving treatment outcomes.

However, having the theoretical knowledge and insight is one thing and implementing it another. An example of this is the importance of accompanying psycho-social interventions in medically assisted treatment, which much research has found to contribute to success but which nevertheless are still not adequately implemented in practice.

In recent years, much emphasis has been placed on expanding treatment services and this has to a rather large extent been achieved. The challenge now is to widen the fan of treatment services and refine the interventions themselves, thereby increasing the 'success' of these.

Drug use in prison

The presence of drugs and drug use has fundamentally changed the prison reality over the past two decades and, nowadays, all countries in Europe experience major problems due to drugs and drug-related infectious diseases in prisons.

Drug demand in prison (61)

National routine information on drug use, patterns and consequences amongst prisoners is rare. Most of the data available in the EU come from ad hoc studies carried out at local level amongst a small sample of prisoners. This makes extrapolations very difficult.

Prevalence of drug users in prison

The prison population can be considered as a high risk group in terms of drug use. Indeed, compared with the community, drug users are over-represented in prison. The proportion of inmates in the EU reporting ever having used an illicit drug varies according to prisons and countries between 29 and 86 % (over 50 % in most studies) (Figure 25). As in the community, cannabis is the most frequently experienced substance, but several studies also show high levels of heroin experience (close to 50 % of the inmates or more in some cases).

⁽⁶¹⁾ See also the table: Proportion of drug users among prisoners in the EU (online version).

Selected issues



According to different studies, prisoners reporting more regular and/or harmful use such as intravenous drug use, regular use or dependence, represent 6 to 69 % of the prison population.

Level of drug use within prison

Incarceration does not mean cessation of drug use. Most drug users tend to stop or reduce their drug use after imprisonment due to the low availability of illicit drugs. However, some continue to use drugs, to an even greater extent in some cases, and others commence once incarcerated.

Drug use within prison is reported by 16 to 54 % of inmates; regular drug use by 5 to 36 %. Between 0.3 and 34 % of the prison population have ever injected while incarcerated.

Women drug users in prison

The number of women in prison is lower than the number of men. However, drug use seems to be particularly acute amongst the female prison population. Where data are available, they show a higher proportion of drug users among women in prison — considering last six months prevalence of drug use in Denmark, last year and lifetime prevalence of heroin use in Ireland, and proportion of prisoners with a drug problem and with a severe drug problem in Sweden.

As regards risk behaviours within prison, studies carried out in Germany (NR, 2001) and France (WIAD-ORS, 2001) show a higher proportion of prisoners sharing drugs, sharing injecting material and prostituting themselves amongst female drug users, compared to males. Whereas other studies carried out in Austria (NR, 2001) and England and Wales (WIAD-ORS, 2001) report more injecting material sharing amongst male prisoners. Initiation to drug use and injecting also takes place in prison. According to several studies in Belgium, Germany, Spain, France, Ireland, Italy, Austria, Portugal and Sweden between 3 and 26 % of drug users in prison report their first use of drugs while in prison, while between 0.4 and 21 % of IDUs in prison started injecting in prison (NR, 2001; WIAD-ORS, 1998).

Health and legal consequences

Risk behaviours

Studies conducted in Belgium, Germany, Greece, France, Ireland, Luxembourg, Austria and the United Kingdom (NR, 2001) show that a high proportion of IDUs in prison share injection equipment. Within prison, intravenous drug use is often associated with the sharing of injecting material, and in some cases up to 100 % of IDUs report sharing behaviours. A Luxembourg study (NR, 2001) reports that, in 70 % of cases, syringes are cleaned with water only and, in 22 % of cases, they are not cleaned. The data available show that sharing injection equipment in prison is more frequent than in the community.

A multi-centre study carried out in some prisons in Belgium, Germany, Spain, France, Italy, Portugal and Sweden in 1996/97 (WIAD-ORS, 2001) reports more tattoos and piercings during incarceration among IDUs, compared with non-IDUs. IDUs also report a higher level of unprotected sexual intercourse in Belgium, Germany, Portugal and Sweden, but less in other countries.

Infectious diseases

Data on HIV and HCV status among injecting drug users (IDUs) in prison were provided by Belgium, Germany, Spain (HCV only), France, Ireland and Luxembourg (NR, 2001).

2002 Annual report on the state of the drugs problem in the European Union and Norway



(a) (4) See online version for explanation.
 Sources: Reitox national focal points. See also online table 'Proportion of drug users among prisoners in the EU'.

They come from local studies carried out in a few prisons, and thus are not representative of the national level. The prevalence of HIV among IDUs varies between 0 and 13 % in the prisons investigated. Levels of HCV positive status are much higher, between 14 and 100 % among IDUs according to the prison centre and the country. As in the community, the prevalence of HIV and HCV is higher in IDUs than non-IDUs.

Sanctions for drug use/possession

Prisoners caught in possession of illicit drugs are usually sanctioned and punished under prison regulation. The incident might be reported in the personal file of the prisoner. The common sanctions applied include restriction of rights (visits from friends or family, telephone calls), deprivation of prison leave, expulsion from specialised treatment wings and/or punishment in an isolation cell.

Possession can have consequences on the execution of the conviction. For example in Denmark, there is a risk not to be granted release on parole after having served two thirds of the sentence. In the United Kingdom, when a urine test is found to be positive, the sentence can be lengthened by at least a few extra days.

Prisoners caught with drugs might also be charged and prosecuted for it out of the realm of the prison.

Drug availability and supply in prison

Availability of drugs

Access to illicit drugs is far more difficult within prison than in the community. However, illicit drugs are reported to be easily available in prison for those wanting to use drugs — mostly cannabis, heroin and medicines (benzodiazepines) — but anything is obtainable in exchange for payment.

Prisoners report large variations in quality, continuity and the price of illicit drugs within prison. Prices of drugs are estimated to be two to four times higher than outside prison, which makes drugs 10 to 20 times more expensive in terms of spending power. Payment forms other than money are extensively used: exchange of services (prostitution, cell cleaning) or goods (telephone cards, tobacco) and/or participation in drug distribution.

Smuggling and trafficking

There are many ways of accessing drugs in prison. All contacts with the outside world are occasions for smuggling drugs into prison: during visits (on visitors' clothes or in their body cavities or inside food), transfers or transportation to court for trial, after prison leave, through the mail (parcels). Drugs can be thrown inside balls over the prison walls. They are also smuggled in by prison staff.

Drug distribution and trafficking varies from one prison to another and between countries. Belgium reports (NR, 2001) trafficking at individual level as well as pyramidal networks in which (as in the community) high-level dealers organise the drug trade but do not use drugs themselves. Germany mentions (NR, 2001) small-scale trafficking in which many prisoners are involved through several channels without central organisation. A study recently carried out in Mountjoy prison in Ireland (NR, 2001) shows a system based on personal arrangements: those having access to drugs in the community, smuggle them into prison and distribute them to their personal network. Drug trading within prison is reported to be far more distressing than in the community, leading to intimidation, bullying and criminality.

To prevent drug smuggling, several measures are implemented — on a routine basis or on suspicion. These include searches of cells, body searches after prison leave, interdiction of parcels, monitoring of visits and placing a net over exercise yards. The United Kingdom has recently set up measures to reduce supply, such as increasing the use of dogs to deter and discover smugglers and banning visitors caught smuggling drugs into prison.

Seizures of illicit drugs within prison or at the entrance are reported by many countries, usually of small quantities. Drug injection material, chillums and other paraphernalia are also found during inspections.

Demand-reduction policy in prison

Current demand-reduction measures inside prisons consist predominantly of discouraging drug use through increased control, such as cell searches and random drug testing combined with sanctions or loss of privileges. For example, in Sweden, prisoners undergo an average of two to three urine tests per month.

Confronted with an increasing number of drug users, prison systems have set up specialised addiction care units (e.g. in the Netherlands), have centralised drugs services in specific prisons (Ireland and Austria), or 'imported' expertise in addiction care from external drugs agencies.

Since 1995, an expansion of services for drug users in prisons has been noted (Ambrosini, 2001) and measures to prevent the transmission of infectious diseases introduced. Compared to the community, however, there was a considerable time lag. The current offer of addiction care services does not match the potential need of the estimated over 50 % of drug users among the prison population.

Since many drug users return to prison various times with the same or even worse problems of drug use and infectious diseases, prison administrations have had to acknowledge the need to tackle addiction, drug use, related risks and health consequences in a more systematic way within prison settings. A recent development in many EU countries that reflects this is the adoption of genuine 'prison drugs strategies', the provision of directives on the care and treatment of addicted prisons, or the development of quality standards for specific services (⁶²). Prison drug strategies usually cover a range of measures to treat prisoners, discourage drug use and reduce the supply of drugs.

Addiction care

Health care services in prisons are traditionally provided by the prison's own health care staff under the authority of the Ministries of Justice, but prison systems across the EU and in Norway rely to a large extent on additional external expertise and resources in the care of drug users. Striving towards 'equivalence of care' between the community and the prison (Council of Europe, 1993; WHO, 1993), France, in 1994, and Italy, in 2000, have moved the responsibility for the care of addicted prisoners to their Ministries of Health and thus involved local and regional health care agencies on a statutory basis. Concrete cooperation agreements between the judiciary system and public or non-governmental health services were also established in Ireland in 1999, Portugal in 1999 and Spain in 2000, to increase the quality and coverage of care for imprisoned drug users.

External drugs specialists play an important role in the support to drug users in most, if not all, European prison systems. However, the extent to which prisons are covered and the level of service provision vary considerably between and within countries. Notable exceptions in terms of coverage are: Scotland, which has drug counsellors in every prison; Spain, where addiction care services are available in 71 out of 73 prisons; Sweden, where a third of the estimated number of inmates with drug problems were covered by treatment motivation programmes in the year 2000; and England and Wales, where since 1999 all prisons have specialised external teams (CARAT - Counselling, Assessment, Referral Advice and Throughcare Services) which aim to cover drug-using prisoners' needs from intake to aftercare although a bottleneck seems to be the lack of referral possibilities (Spacca, 2002). In Scotland, prisoners can now also receive transitional care during the first 12 weeks after release, to facilitate their return to the community.

The services provided by external agencies are general drug prevention information and education, treatment motivation programmes and preparation for release, including referral to community-based treatment and to aftercare. In Belgium and Greece, non-governmental organisations (NGOs) are so far the primary providers of the limited services that are available to drug users in prisons. In

(62) Table 13 OL: Recent prison drug strategies, ministerial directives and service standards in the EU and Norway (online version).

Germany, the history of the work in prisons of external drugs agencies and of specialised internal drugs services dates back to the mid-1980s and, in 2000, more than 350 drugs counsellors provided their services in German prisons; however, the coverage of this service varies between the federal states (Länder). In 2000, the involvement of external professionals continued to be an important trend in France; and, in Italy, the public drugs services SerT noted a large increase in client numbers, due to their new responsibility with regard to prisoners. The Spanish national strategy on drugs (2000-08) defined the participation of external specialists in the care of drug users in prisons as a priority, and multiannual cooperation plans between prisons and NGOs have resulted in more than half of the addiction care services (GAD) in Spanish prisons being staffed by external NGO experts.

Services provided

Written information materials on drugs and drug-related infectious diseases seem to be available in most prisons in the EU and Norway; however, systematic and repeated opportunities to address prevention issues face-toface are rare and often depend on the initiative of external agencies or individual prison staff.

Detoxification is in general offered through medical prison services or in specialised detoxification wards, but quality guidelines are often lacking. A programme through which 1 200 to 1 500 prisoners received detoxification per year has been described as being provided in an 'essentially unstructured and unsupervised fashion, with no follow-up or medium to long-term planning' (Department of Justice Equality and Law Reform, 1999). However, quality standards are starting to be introduced, for example the prison service order of December 2000 requests that all prisons in England and Wales offer qualified detoxification services.

In some countries, external agencies are also directly involved in providing longer-term treatment of addiction. Examples are the small intramural programmes for drug users in Denmark and Norway, which are run by specialised external drugs agencies ('import model'), and substitution treatment in Spanish, French and Italian prisons. The high coverage in Spain has been achieved through the massive involvement of external drugs services.

Nine EU countries have structured abstinence-oriented treatment programmes inside prisons and Norway provides a treatment motivation programme. The total num-

ber of places is, compared with the estimated number of prisoners with drug problems, very low. However, in Spain, 8 984 prisoners participated in the 18 available drug-free treatment programmes in 2000 and, in England and Wales, 3100 entrants were registered in the 50 intensive treatment programmes in 2000/01. In Sweden, 10 % of prison facilities, with a capacity to receive 500 prisoners, are specially reserved for voluntary and compulsory treatment of drug users (Lýsen, 2001) and, in Finland, 18 % of incoming prisoners participate in alcohol or drug rehabilitation programmes (Jungner, 2001). In the Austrian prison Favoriten, specialised exclusively in the care of addicts, 110 treatment places are available; Denmark has 30 places and Ireland has nine. The Norwegian treatment motivation programme can take 18 prisoners in charge per year (63).

Except for Greece, Sweden and two Länder in Germany (Bavaria and Baden-Württemberg), substitution treatment is now available in prisons in all EU countries and Norway. However, even in countries where a large percentage of problem drug users in the community are in substitution treatment, prisons often follow a detoxification policy. For example, rates in prisons in Germany and the Netherlands are thought to be between 1 and 4 % (Stöver, 2001; WIAD-ORS, 2001) compared to an estimated coverage of 30 to 50 % in the community. Most prison maintenance policies indicate the treatment only during short-term sentences, for pregnant drug users, and for those with long addiction careers or severe mental or physical health problems. Initiation of substitution treatment in prisons is rare, even though it is legally possible in most countries. The major exception is Spain, where substitution rates inside and outside prison correspond (64).

Ten EU countries and Norway run drug-free units or prisons. The purpose of some of them is not only to protect non-dependent inmates from drugs, but also to provide treatment for addicts. Prisoners under methadone substitution are usually excluded from drug-free units. The 20 drug-free addiction guidance departments in Dutch prisons can cater for 446 prisoners; however, one third of the capacity remained unused in 1999. Sweden has 356 places in drug-free units and, in Finland, where currently 10 % of all prison wards are drug free, an expansion to 50 % is envisaged. Portugal recently opened seven drug-free units with 195 places, evaluated it as a 'great success' and is planning two more units. An analysis of research on penitentiary addiction care (Rigter, 1998)

⁽⁶³⁾ Table 14 OL: Abstinence-oriented treatment and drug-free units in prisons in selected EU countries and Norway (online version).

⁽⁶⁴⁾ Table 15 OL: Substitution treatment in prisons in the EU and Norway (online version).

concluded, however, that there was a shortage of reliable and valid results worldwide.

Prevention of infectious diseases

The prevention of the transmission of blood-borne diseases during incarceration has become a priority target for several prison systems in Europe — also with regard to the notable increases in pharmaceutical expenditure due to the treatment of drug-related infections (e.g. HAART, interferon) that prisons have to cover.

Many countries aim to follow the general principles and specific recommendations made by the WHO in their *Guidelines on HIV infection and AIDS in prison* (WHO, 1993). Several risk-reduction measures are difficult to implement, because they are politically loaded, meet resistance from staff and are perceived inadequate in prison settings. Selected prevention measures of the WHO guidelines and the extent to which EU countries and Norway implement them are presented in Table 2. Even though the coverage of these measures appears still to be insufficient in many countries, some progress has been made (⁶⁵). Needle exchange programmes can be implemented now in all Spanish prisons (⁶⁶) and Luxembourg and Portugal are discussing their introduction. More countries recommend prisoners' access to diluted bleach and implementation of this measure has improved.

Table 2	Overview of selected measures to prevent blood-borne diseases in prisons in the EU and Norway			
	Information/education	Hepatitis B vaccination	Provision of disinfectants	Needle/syringe exchange
Belgium	++ but not in all prisons	+ protocol being developed by MoH	+	0
Denmark	0	++ but coverage very low (2 %)	++ with instructions	0
Germany	+	n.a.	+	+
Greece	+ but provision relies primarily on external agencies	+ only one prison	+ only one prison	0
Spain	++	++ and encouraged	++	++
France	+	++	++	0
Ireland	0	++	+ but ++ recommended by Review Group on Prison Health Care, 2001	O Review Group on Prison Health Care does not recommend N/S exchange, because of risks of attacks
Italy	0	n.a. (mandatory vaccination at age 12, whole population, introduced early 1990s)	++	0
Luxembourg	+	++	0	0 under discussion
Netherlands	+	++	++	0
Austria	+	+ (1)	++ with instructions on cleaning	0
Portugal	+	++ national vaccination programme	++ in practice: +	0 under discussion
Finland	+	++	++	0
Sweden	0 depends upon prison	O decision on general introduction of vaccination pending	0	0
UK	+	++ (Scotland)	++ England/Wales: not easy to access. After pilot study, tablets are being made available Scotland: ++ with instructions	0
Norway	n.a.	n.a.	O health authorities asked prisons to make bleach available	0
NB: n.a. = infor Informatio 0 general v + written m + prison-s Hepatitis v 0 not syste + available ++ available Sources: Reitox natic European N (') Spirig, H	mation not available n/education vittlem materials iaterials specifically developed for prison setti pecific materials plus safer use training raccination matically available in few prisons e in all prisons anal reports. letwork on HIV/AIDS and Hepatitis Prevention . and Ess-Dietz, O. (2001): 'Preventive measur	Disinfectant 0 not availab 1 in some pri ++ in all priso Needle/syri 0 not availab + programme ++ programme	s le sons ons (at least in theory) nge exchange le in few prisons e in all prisons and ORS, Marseilles, December 2001. 300.	

(65) For information on the situation up to 2000, see the web site (http://ar2001.emcdda.eu.int/en/chap2/specific_demand.html#table2).

(⁶⁶) Except prisons located in Ceuta and Melilla. The autonomous community of Cataluña has its own competence in management of prisons.

2002 Annual report on the state of the drugs problem in the European Union and Norway

References and sources for Chapter 3

Akram, G. and Galt, M. (1999): 'A profile of harm-reduction practices and co-use of illicit and licit drugs amongst users of dance drugs', *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*, Vol. 6(2), pp. 215–225.

Ambrosini, F. (2001): 'Europäisches Netzwerk zur Drogen- und AIDS-Hilfe im Strafvollzug', Jacob, J., Keppler, K. and Stöver, H. (eds), *LebHaft: Gesundheitsförderung für Drogen Gebrauchende im Strafvollzug*, Deutsche AIDS-Hilfe, Berlin, pp. 106–113.

Bellis, M. A., Hale, G., Bennett, A., Chaudry, M. and Kilfoyle, M. (2000): 'Ibiza uncovered: changes in substance use and sexual behaviour amongst young people visiting an international nightlife resort', *International Journal of Drug Policy*, Vol. 11, pp. 235–244 (*).

Bennett, G. A. and Higgins, D. S. (1999): 'Accidental overdose among injecting drug users in Dorset, UK', *Addiction*, Vol. 94(8), pp. 1179–1189.

Berglund, M., Andréasson, S., Franck, J., Fridell, M., Håkanson, I., Johansson, B. A., Lindgren, A., Lindgren, B., Nicklasson, L., Rydberg, U., Salaspuro, M., Thelander, S. and Öjehagen, A. (2001): *Behandling av alkohol- och narkotikaproblem*, Statens beredning för medicinsk utvärdering, Sweden.

Boys, A., Fountain, J., Marsden, J., Griffiths, P., Stillwell, G. and Strang, J. (2000): *Drug decisions: a qualitative study of young people*, Health Education Authority, London.

Calafat, A., Bohrn, K., Juan, M., Kokkevi, A., Maalsté, N., Mendes, F., Palmer, A., Sherlock, K., Simon, J., Stocco, P., Sureda, M. P., Tossmann, P., van de Wijngaart, G. and Zavatti, P. (1999): *Night life in Europe and recreative drug use*, Irefrea and European Commission, Valencia.

Club Health conference proceedings (2002): Second International conference on nightlife substance use and related health issues, 24–27 March 2002, Rimini, Regione Emilia-Romagna and John Moores University.

Costa, N., Padua, J. and Correia, M. (2000): 'Um ano de Naltrexona', *Toxicodependências*, Vol. 6(1), pp. 51–60.

Council of Europe (1993): 'Recommendation NoR (93)6 of the Committee of Ministers to Member States concerning prison and criminological aspects of the control of transmissible diseases including AIDS and related health problems in prison', Council of Europe, Strasbourg.

Darke, S., Ross, J., Zador, D. and Sunjic S. (2000): 'Heroinrelated deaths in New South Wales, Australia, 1992–1996, *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, Vol. 60, pp. 141–150.

Decorte, T. (1999): 'Informal control mechanisms among cocaine and crack users in the metropolitan area of Antwerp', doctoral thesis, faculteit Rechtsgeleerdheid, Universiteit Leuven, Leuven.

Department of Justice Equality and Law Reform (1999): 'Drug misuse and drug treatment in the prison system: draft action plan' (unpublished).

DHSSPS (Department of Health, Scottish Office Department of Health, Welsh Office, Department of Health and Social Services) (1999): *Drug misuse and dependence: Guidelines on clinical management,* The Stationery Office, London.

Drucker, E., Lurie, P., Wodak, A. and Alcabes, P. (1998): 'Measuring harm reduction: the effects of needle and syringe exchange programs and methadone maintenance on the ecology of HIV', *AIDS*, Vol. 12 (suppl. A), pp. 217–230.

DrugScope (2001): *Drug abuse briefing: a guide to the non-medical use of drugs in Britain,* eighth edition, DrugScope, London (*).

Edmunds, M., Hough, M. and Urquia, N. (1996): 'Tackling local drug markets', Crime Detection and Prevention Series, Paper 80, Home Office Police Research Group, London (*).

EMCDDA (2000): 'Reviewing current practice in drug-substitution treatment in the European Union', Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.

ESPAD (2000): The 1999 ESPAD report: 'Alcohol and other drug use among students in 30 European countries', Swedish Council for Information on Alcohol and Other Drugs (CAN), the Pompidou Group of the Council of Europe.

Farrell, M. (1989): 'Ecstasy and the oxygen of publicity', *British Journal of Addiction*, Vol. 84, p. 943.

Fountain, J., Griffiths, P., Farrell, M., Gossop, M. and Strang, J. (1999): 'Benzodiazepines in polydrug-using repertoires: the impact of the decreased availability of temazepam gel-filled capsules', *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*, Vol. 6(1), pp. 61–69 (*).

Gossop, M., Marsden, J. and Stewart, D. (1998): *NTORS at one year* — *The National Treatment Outcome Research Study*, Department of Health, London.

Gossop, M., Marsden, J., Stewart, D., Lehmann, P., Edwards, C., Wilson, A. and Segar, G. (1998): 'Substance use, health and social problems of clients at 54 drug treatment agencies: intake data from the National Treatment Outcome Research Study (NTORS)', *British Journal of Psychiatry*, Vol. 173.

Gossop, M., Marsden, J. and Stewart, D. (2001): *NTORS after five years. Changes in substance use, health and criminal behaviour during the five years after intake*, National Treatment Outcome Research Study, National Addiction Centre, London.

Greenstein, R. A., Fudala, P. J. and O'Brien, C. P. (1997): 'Alternative pharmacotherapies for opiate addiction', *Substance abuse* — *A comprehensive textbook*, USA.

Haw, S. (1993): *Pharmaceutical drugs and illicit drug use in the Lothian region*, Centre for HIV/AIDS and Drug Studies (CHADS), City Hospital, Edinburgh.

Heroinstudie (2002): official web site containing information of the German heroin trial (http://www.heroinstudie.de).

Hunt, N. (2002): 'Preliminary results from the 2001 UK Mixmag drug use survey', Second international conference on nightlife substance use and related health issues, 24–27 March 2002, Rimini, Regione Emilia-Romagna and John Moores University.

Jungner, M. (2001): 'Treatment of intoxicating substance misuse in Finnish prisons', *Connections, The newsletter of the European Network of Drug and HIV/AIDS Services in Prison,* Issue 9–10, November 2001, pp. 12–13.

Kethea — NSPH (2001): 'Effectiveness-evaluation of the Kethea's therapeutic communities. Therapy centre for dependent individuals (Kethea)', National School of Public Health, Section of Sociology (NSPH), Athens.

Kriener, H., Billet, R., Gollner, C., Lachout, S., Neubauer, P. and Schmid, R. (2001): 'An inventory of on-site pill testing interventions in the EU', EMCDDA, Lisbon.

Leccese, A. P., Pennings, E. J. M. and De Wolff, F. A. (2000): Combined use of alcohol and psychotropic drugs. A review of the literature, Academisch Ziekenhuis Leiden (AZL), Leiden (*).

Lowinson, H. L., Payte, F. T., Salsitz, E., Joseph, H., Marion, I. J. and Dole, V. P. (1997): 'Methadone maintenance', *Substance abuse — A comprehensive textbook*, USA.

Lýsen, L. (2001): 'The Swedish system and the experiences at the Gävle prison — management of drug problems in prison', *Connections, The newsletter of the European Network of Drug and HIV/AIDS Services in Prison*, Issue 9–10, November 2001, pp. 10–11.

McElrath, K. and McEvoy, K. (1999): *Ecstasy use in Northern Ireland*, Queen's University, Belfast.

Neale, J. (2001): 'Don't overdo it: overdose prevention and extent', *Druglink*, Vol. 16, July/August 2001, pp. 18–22.

NR, 2001 = National reports 2001 to the EMCDDA from these countries: Chapter 13 (except Chapter 12 for Norway and Chapter 18 for Finland).

ONS (Office for National Statistics) (2000a): 'ONS drug-related deaths database: first results for England and Wales, 1993–97', *Health Statistics Quarterly*, No 5 (Spring 2000), Office for National Statistics, London, pp. 57–60 (*).

ONS (Office for National Statistics) (2000b): 'Deaths related to drug poisoning: results for England and Wales, 1994–98', *Health Statistics Quarterly*, No 7 (Autumn 2000), Office for National Statistics, London, pp. 59–62.

ONS (Office for National Statistics) (2000c): 'Deaths related to drug poisoning: results for England and Wales, 1995–99', *Health Statistics Quarterly*, No 9 (Spring 2001), Office for National Statistics, London, pp. 70–72.

Pedersen, M. U. (2000): *Stofmisbrugere før under efter behandling*, Center for Rusmiddelforskning.

Reitox national reports 2001.

Rigter, H. (1998): Effecten van justitiële drang en dwang bij de behandeling van verslaafden, Trimbos Instituut, Utrecht (*).

Seppälä, P. (1999): Kielletyt aineet ja niiden merkitys teknokulttuurissa (Banned substances and their relevance to technoculture). *Yhteiskuntapolitiikka*, 64(4), 359–368 (*).

Snippe, J. and Bieleman, B. (1997): 'Opiate users and crime in the Netherlands', Korf, D. and Riper, H. (eds), *Illicit drug use in Europe: Proceedings of the seventh conference on drug use and drug policy*, University of Amsterdam (SISWO), Amsterdam.

Sonntag, D. and Künzel, J. (2000): 'Hat die Therapiedauer bei alkohol- und drogenabhängigen Patienten einen positiven Einfluss auf den Therapieerfolg?' *Sucht*, Vol. 46(2).

Spacca, E. (2002): Personal communication by Edoardo Spacca, Coordinator of the European Network of Drug Services in Prison (ENDSP), based at Cranstoun Drug Services in London.

Stöver, H. (2001): Assistance to drug users in European Union prisons: an overview study, EMCDDA Scientific Report, Lisbon and London.

Strang, J., Griffiths, P., Powis, B., Fountain, J., Williamson, S. and Gossop, M. (1999): 'Which drugs cause overdose amongst opiate misusers? Study of personal and witnessed overdoses', *Drug and Alcohol Review*, Vol. 18, pp. 253–261 (*).

Strang, J., Seivewright, N. and Farrell, M. (1993): 'Oral and intravenous abuse of benzodiazepines', Hallstrom, C. (ed.), *Benzodiazepine dependence*, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Taylor, A., Frischer, M. and Goldberg, D. (1996): 'Non-fatal overdosing is related to polydrug use in Glasgow', letter to the editor, *British Medical Journal*, Vol. 313, 30 November 1996, pp. 1140–1141.

Tretter, F., Küfner, H., Kümmler, P., Beloch, E., Drobik, U., Burkhardt, D. and Walcher, S. (2001): 'Katamnese nach antagonisten-induziertem narkosegestütztem Opiatentzug', *Sucht*, Vol. 47(3), pp. 189–200.

Van den Brink, W., Hendriks, V. M., Blanken, P., Huijsman, I. A. and Ree, J. M. V. (2002): 'Medical co-prescription of heroin — Two randomised controlled trials', Central committee on the treatment of heroin addicts (CCBH), Netherlands.

Vermaas, P. (1999): 'Drugs en geweld, "Poligebruikers" zijn onvoorspelbaar en agressief' *Algemeen Politieblad*, No 10 (*).

WHO (1994): Lexicon of alcohol and drug terms (*).

WHO Global Programme on AIDS (1993): *Guidelines on HIV infection and AIDS in prison,* WHO/GPA/DIR/93.3 (and reprint UNAIDS/99.47/E), PDF file can be downloaded

(http://www.unaids.org/bestpractice/collection/subject/sector/keyprisons.html).

WIAD-ORS, European Network on HIV/AIDS and Hepatitis Prevention in Prisons (1998): *Annual report to the EC*, WIAD, Bonn, and ORS, Marseilles.

WIAD-ORS, European Network on HIV/AIDS and Hepatitis Prevention in Prisons (2001): *Final progress report*, WIAD, Bonn, and ORS, Marseilles.

Wirth, U. (2001): 'Der Verlauf der Drogenabhängigkeit nach der stationären Behandlung, Eine Studie des Anton-Proksch-Instituts', Anton Proksch-Institut, Vienna.

Further information on drug services in prison is available from the European Network of Drug Services in Prison (ENDSP formerly ENDHASP) at the web site (http://www.cranstoun.org).

(*) = reference cited in national report.

Reitox focal points

Belgium — Ms Denise Walckiers Scientific Institute of Public Health Rue Juliette Wytsman 14 B-1050 Brussels Tel. (32-2) 642 50 35 Fax (32-2) 642 54 10 E-mail: BIRN@iph.fgov.be

Denmark — Mr Thomas Clement National Board of Health Islands Brygge, 67, Postbox 1881 DK-2300 Copenhagen S Tel. (45) 72 22 74 00 Fax (45) 72 22 74 11 E-mail: tcl@sst.dk Kari Grasaasen E-mail: kag@sst.dk

Germany — Mr Roland Simon Institute for Therapy Research Parzivalstraße 25 D-80804 Munich Tel. (49-89) 36 08 04 40 Fax (49-89) 36 08 04 49 E-mail: Simon@ift.de

Greece — Ms Manina Terzidou University of Mental Health Research Institute (UMHRI) (Office: 12 Eginitou Street) GR-115 28 Athens Tel. (30-10) 653 69 02 Fax (30-10) 653 72 73 Postal address Greek Reitox Focal Point PO Box 66517 — Papagou Post Office GR-15 601 Athens E-mail: ektepn@hol.gr Spain — Ms Elena Garzon Government Delegation to the National Plan on Drugs (DGPND) C/Recoletos, 22 E-28001 Madrid Tel. (34) 915 37 27 25 Fax (34) 915 37 26 95 E-mail: egarzon@pnd.mir.es Ms Ana Andres Ballesteros — Tel. (34) 915 37 26 86 E-mail: anaab@pnd.mir.es

France — Mr Jean Michel Costes French Observatory for Drugs and Drug Addiction 105, rue Lafayette F-75110 Paris Tel. (33) 153 20 16 16 Fax (33) 153 20 16 00 E-mail: jecos@ofdt.fr

Ireland — Mr Hamish Sinclair Drug Misuse Research Division Health Research Board 73 Lower Baggot Street Dublin 2 Ireland Tel. (353-1) 676 11 76 ext. 160 Fax (353-1) 661 18 56 E-mail: Hsinclair@hrb.ie Mary O'Brien Tel. (353-1) 676 11 76 ext. 163 E-mail: Mobrien@hrb.ie

Italy — Ms Annalisa Vittore Ministry of Labour and Social Policies Department of Social and Previdential Policies Directorate-General for Drug Addiction and for the National Observatory Via Fornovo, 8, Pal. B I-00187 Rome Tel. (39) 06 36 75 48 01 Fax (39) 06 36 75 48 11 E-mail: svittore@minwelfare.it Silvia Zanone E-mail: szanone@minwelfare.it Luxembourg — Mr Alain Origer Direction de la Santé — EMCDDA Focal Point Luxembourg Allée Marconi, Villa Louvigny L-2120 Luxembourg Tel. (352) 478 56 25 Fax (352) 46 79 65 E-mail: alain.origer@ms.etat.lu

Netherlands — Mr Franz Trautmann Trimbos Instituut Netherlands Institute of Mental Health and Addiction Da Costakade 45, PO Box 725 3500 AS Utrecht Netherlands Tel. (31-30) 297 11 86 Fax (31-30) 297 11 87 E-mail: ftrautmann@trimbos.nl

Austria — Ms Sabine Haas ÖBIG — Austrian Health Institute Stubenring 6 A-1010 Vienna Tel. (43-1) 515 61–160 Fax (43-1) 513 84 72 E-mail: HAAS@oebig.at

Portugal — Dr Elza Pais Instituto Português da Droga e da Toxicodependência (IPDT) Av. João Crisostomo, 14 P-1000-179 Lisbon Tel. (351) 213 10 41 00 Fax (351) 213 10 41 90 E-mail: Elza.Pais@ipdt.pt Dr Maria Moreira Tel. (351) 213 10 41 26 E-mail: Maria.Moreira@ipdt.pt Finland — Mr Ari Virtanen National Research and Development Centre for Welfare and Health PO Box 220 (Office: Siltasaarenkatu 18 A) FIN-00531 Helsinki Tel. (358-9) 396 71 Fax (358-9) 76 13 07 E-mail: ari.virtanen@stakes.fi

Sweden — Mr Bertil Pettersson National Institute of Public Health S-103 52 Stockholm (Office: Olof Palmes gata 17) Tel. (46-8) 56 61 35 13 Fax (46-8) 56 61 35 05 Mobile: (46) 704 83 35 13 E-mail:Bertil.Pettersson@fhi.se

United Kingdom — Mr Axel Klein DrugScope Waterbridge House 32–36 Loman Street London SE1 OEE United Kingdom Tel. (44-20) 79 28 12 11 Fax (44-20) 79 28 17 71 E-mail: axelk@Drugscope.org.uk

Norway — Mr Knut Brofoss National Research Centre (SIRUS) — SIFA PB 565 Sentrum N-0105 Oslo Office: Øvre Slottsgate 2B N-0157 Oslo Tel. (47) 22 34 04 00 Fax (47) 22 34 04 01 Mr Odd Hordvin (Coordinator NFP)

E-mail: odd@sirus.no

European Commission — Mr Timo Jetsu European Commission Justice and Home Affairs DG — Drugs Coordination Unit LX46, 3/186 B-1049 Brussels Tel. (32-2) 29-95784 Fax (32-2) 29-53205 E-mail: Timo.Jetsu@cec.eu.int

European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction

2002 Annual report on the state of the drugs problem in the European Union and Norway

Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities

2002 — 54 pp. — 21 x 29.7 cm

ISBN 92-9168-129-6

Venta • Salg • Verkauf • Πωλήσεις • Sales • Vente • Vendita • Verkoop • Venda • Myynti • Försäljning http://eur-op.eu.int/general/en/s-ad.htm

BELGIQUE/BELGIË

Jean De Lannoy Avenue du Roi 202/Koningslaan 202 B-1190 Bruxelles/Brussel Tél. (32-2) 538 43 08 Fax (32-2) 538 08 41 E-mail: jean.de.lannoy@infoboard.be URL: http://www.jean-de-lannoy.be

La librairie européenne/ De Europese Boekhandel

Rue de la Loi 244/Wetstraat 244 B-1040 Bruxelles/Brussel Tél. (32-2) 295 26 39 Fax (32-2) 735 08 60 E-mail: mail@libeurop.be URL: http://www.libeurop.be

Moniteur belge/Belgisch Staatsblad Rue de Louvain 40-42/Leuvenseweg 40-42 Tél. (32-2) 552 22 11 Fax (32-2) 551 01 84 E-mail: eusales@just.fgov.be

DANMARK

J. H. Schultz Information A/S Herstedvang 12 DK-2620 Albertslund Tlf. (45) 43 63 23 00 Fax (45) 43 63 19 69 E-mail: schultz@schultz.dk URL: http://www.schultz.dk

DEUTSCHLAND

Bundesanzeiger Verlag GmbH

Vertriebsabteilung Amsterdamer Straße 192 D-50735 Köln Tel. (49-221) 97 66 80 Fax (49-221) 97 66 82 78 E-Mail: vertrieb@bundesanzeiger.de URL: http://www.bundesanzeiger.de

ΕΛΛΑΔΑ/GREECE

G. C. Eleftheroudakis SA G. C. Eleftime outdatis SA International Bookstore Panepistimiou 17 GR-10564 Athina Tel. (30-1) 331 41 80/1/2/3/4/5 Fax (30-1) 325 84 99 E-mail: elebooks@netor.gr URL: elebooks@hellasnet.gr

ESPAÑA

Boletín Oficial del Estado Trafalgar, 27 E-28071 Madrid Tel. (34) 915 38 21 11 (libros) 913 84 17 15 (suscripción) Fax (34) 915 38 21 21 (libros), 913 84 17 14 (suscripción) E-mail: clientes@com.boe.es URL: http://www.boe.es

Mundi Prensa Libros, SA

Castelló, 37 E-28001 Madrid Fel. (34) 914 36 37 00 Fax (34) 915 75 39 98 E-mail: libreria@mundiprensa.es URL: http://www.mundiprensa.com

FRANCE

Journal officiel

Service des publications des CE 26, rue Desaix F-75727 Paris Cedex 15 Tél. (33) 140 58 77 31 Fax (33) 140 58 77 00 E-mail: europublications@journal-officiel.gouv.fr URL: http://www.journal-officiel.gouv.fr

IRELAND

Alan Hanna's Bookshop 270 Lower Rathmines Road Dublin 6 Tel. (353-1) 496 73 98 Fax (353-1) 496 02 28 E-mail: hannas@iol.ie

ITALIA

Licosa SpA

Via Duca di Calabria, 1/1 Casella postale 552 1-50125 Firenze Tel. (39) 055 64 83 1 Fax (39) 055 64 12 57 E-mail: licosa@licosa.com URL: http://www.licosa.com

Messageries du livre SARL

LUXEMBOURG

5, rue Raiffeisen L-2411 Luxembourg Tél. (352) 40 10 20 Fax (352) 49 06 61

E-mail: mail@mdl.lu URL: http://www.mdl.lu

Eesti Kaubandus-Tööstuskoda (Estonian Chamber of Commerce and Industry) Toom-Kooli 17 EE-10130 Tallinn Tel. (372) 646 02 44 Fax (372) 646 02 45 E-mail: einfo@koda.ee URL: http://www.koda.ee

SDU Servicecentrum Uitgevers Christoffel Plantijnstraat 2 Postbus 20014 2500 EA Den Haag Tel. (31-70) 378 98 80 Fax (31-70) 378 97 83 E-mail: sdu@sdu.nl URL: http://www.sdu.nl

PORTUGAL

NEDERI AND

Distribuidora de Livros Bertrand Ld.ª Grupo Bertrand, SA Grupo Bertrand, SA Rua das Terras dos Vales, 4-A Apartado 60037 P-2700 Amadora Tel. (351) 214 95 87 87 Fax (351) 214 96 02 55 E-mail: dlb@ip.pt

Imprensa Nacional-Casa da Moeda, SA

Sector de Publicações Oficiais Rua da Escola Politécnica, 135 P-1250-100 Lisboa Codex Tel. (351) 213 94 57 00 Fax (351) 213 94 57 50 E-mail: spoce@incm.pt URL: http://www.incm.pt

SUOMI/FINLAND

Akateeminen Kirjakauppa Akademiska Bokhandeln

Keskuskatu 1/Centralgatan 1 PL/PB 128 FIN-00101 Helsinki/Helsingfors P./tfn (358-9) 121 44 18 F./fax (358-9) 121 44 35 Sähköposti: sps@akateeminen.com URL: http://www.akateeminen.com

SVERIGE

BTJ AB Traktorvägen 11-13 S-221 82 Lund Tlf. (46-46) 18 00 00 Fax (46-46) 30 79 47 E-post: btjeu-pub@btj.se URL: http://www.btj.se

UNITED KINGDOM The Stationery Office Ltd

Customer Services PO Box 29 Norwich NR3 1GN Tel. (44) 870 60 05-522 Fax (44) 870 60 05-533 E-mail: book.orders@theso.co.uk URL: http://www.itsofficial.net

ÍSLAND

Bokabud Larusar Blöndal Skólavördustig, 2 IS-101 Reykjavik Tel. (354) 552 55 40 Fax (354) 552 55 60 E-mail: bokabud@simnet.is

SCHWEIZ/SUISSE/SVIZZERA

Euro Info Center Schweiz c/o OSEC Business Network Switzerland Stampfenbachstraße 85 PF 492 CH-8035 Zürich Tel. (41-1) 365 53 15 Fax (41-1) 365 54 11 -mail: eics@osec.ch URL: http://www.osec.ch/eics

BĂLGARIJA

Europress Euromedia Ltd 59, blvd Vitosha 59, bivo Vitosna BG-1000 Sofia Tel. (359-2) 980 37 66 Fax (359-2) 980 42 30 E-mail: Milena@mbox.cit.bg URL: http://www.europress.bg

CYPRUS

Cyprus Chamber of Commerce and Industry PO Box 21455 CY-1509 Nicosia Tel. (357-2) 88 97 52 Fax (357-2) 66 10 44 E-mail: demetrap@ccci.org.cy

EESTI

Mediatrade I td Pavla Hatza 1 Pavia Haiza I HR-10000 Zagreb Tel. (385-1) 481 94 11 Fax (385-1) 481 94 11

HRVATSKA

MAGYARORSZÁG

Euro Info Service Szt. István krt.12 III emelet 1/A PO Box 1039 H-1137 Budapest Tel. (36-1) 329 21 70 Fax (36-1) 349 20 53 E-mail: euroinfo@euroinfo.hu URL: http://www.euroinfo.hu

MALTA

Miller Distributors Ltd Malta International Airport PO Box 25 Luqa LQA 05 Tel. (356) 66 44 88 Fax (356) 67 67 99 E-mail: gwirth@usa.net

NORGE

Swets Blackwell AS Hans Nielsen Hauges gt. 39 Boks 4901 Nydalen N-0423 Oslo Tel. (47) 23 40 00 00 Fax (47) 23 40 00 01 E-mail: info@no.swetsblackwell.com URL: http://www.swetsblackwell.com.no

POLSKA

Ars Polona Krakowskie Przedmiescie 7 Skr. pocztowa 1001 PL-00-950 Warszawa Tel. (48-22) 826 12 01 Fax (48-22) 826 62 40 E-mail: books119@arspolona.com.pl

ROMÂNIA

Furomedia Str.Dionisie Lupu nr. 65, sector 1 RO-70184 Bucuresti Tel. (40-1) 312 96 46 E-mail: euromedia@mailcity.com

SLOVAKIA

Centrum VTI SR Nám. Slobody, 19 SK-81223 Bratislava Tel. (421-7) 54 41 83 64 Fax (421-7) 54 41 83 64 E-mail: europ@tbb1.sltk.stuba.sk URL: http://www.sltk.stuba.sk

SLOVENIJA

GV Zalozba Dunajska cesta 5 SLO-1000 Ljubljana Tel. (386) 613 09 1804 Fax (386) 613 09 1805 E-mail: europ@gvestnik.si URL: http://www.gvzalozba.si

TÜRKIYE

Dünya Infotel AS 100, Yil Mahallessi 34440 TR-80050 Bagcilar-Istanbul Tel. (90-212) 629 46 89 Fax (90-212) 629 46 27 E-mail: aktuel.info@dunya.com

ARGENTINA

World Publications SA Av. Cordoba 1877 C1120 AAA Buenos Aires Tel. (54-11) 48 15 81 56 Fax (54-11) 48 15 81 56 E-mail: wpbooks@infovia.com.ar URL: http://www.wpbooks.com.ar

AUSTRALIA

Hunter Publications PO Box 404 Abbotsford, Victoria 3067 Tel. (61-3) 94 17 53 Fax (61-3) 94 19 71 54 E-mail: jpdavies@ozemail.com.au

BRESIL

Livraria Camões Rua Bittencourt da Silva, 12 C CEP 20043-900 Rio de Janeiro Tel. (55-21) 262 47 76 Fax (55-21) 262 47 76 E-mail: livraria.camoes e URL: http://www.incm.com.br -mail: livraria.camoes@incm.com.br

CANADA

Les éditions La Liberté Inc. 3020, chemin Sainte-Foy Sainte-Foy, Québec G1X 3V6 Tel. (1-418) 658 37 63 Fax (1-800) 567 54 49 E-mail: liberte@mediom.gc.ca

Renouf Publishing Co. Ltd

5369 Chemin Canotek Road, Unit 1 Ottawa, Ontario K1J 9J3 Tel. (1-613) 745 26 65 Fax (1-613) 745 76 60 E-mail: order.dept@renoufbooks.com URL: http://www.renoufbooks.com

EGYPT

The Middle East Observer

41 Sherif Street 41 Strein Jucc. Cairo Tel. (20-2) 392 69 19 Fax (20-2) 393 97 32 E-mail: inquiry@meobserver.com.eg URL: http://www.meobserver.com.eg

MALAYSIA

EBIC Malavsia

Suite 45.02, Level 45 Plaza MBf (Letter Box 45) 8 Jalan Yap Kwan Seng 50450 Kuala Lumpur Tel. (60-3) 21 62 92 98 Fax (60-3) 21 62 61 98 Fax i 60-3 21 62 61 98 E-mail: ebic@tm net my

MÉXICO

Mundi Prensa México, SA de CV Río Pánuco, 141 Colonia Cuauhtémoc MX-06500 México, DF Tel. (52-5) 533 56 58 Fax (52-5) 514 67 99 E-mail: 101545.2361 @compuserve.com

SOUTH AFRICA

Eurochamber of Commerce in South Africa PO Box 781738 2146 Sandton Tel. (27-11) 884 39 52 Fax (27-11) 883 55 73 E-mail: info@eurochamber.co.za

SOUTH KOREA

The European Union Chamber of Commerce in Korea

5th FI. The Shilla Hotel 5th F1, The Shilla Hotel 202, Jangchung-dong 2 Ga, Chung-ku Seoul 100-392 Tel. (82-2) 22 53-5631/4 Fax (82-2) 22 53-5635/6 E-mail: eucck@eucck.org URL: http://www.eucck.org

SRI LANKA

EBIC Sri Lanka

Trans Asia Hotel 115 Sir Chittampalam A. Gardiner Mawatha Colombo 2 Tel. (94-1) 074 71 50 78 Fax (94-1) 44 87 79 E-mail: ebicsl@slnet.ik

T'AI-WAN

Tycoon Information Inc PO Box 81-466 105 Taipei Tel. (886-2) 87 12 88 86 Fax (886-2) 87 12 47 47 E-mail: euitupe@ms21.hinet.net

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Bernan Associates

Ad11-F Assembly Drive Lanham MD 20706-4391 Tel. (1-800) 274 44 47 (toll free telephone) Fax (1-800) 865 34 50 (toll free fax) E-mail: query@bernan.com URL: http://www.bernan.com

ANDERE LÄNDER OTHER COUNTRIES AUTRES PAYS

Bitte wenden Sie sich an ein Büro Ihrer Wahl/Please contact the sales office of your choice/Veuillez vous adresser au bureau de vente de votre choix Office for Official Publications of the European Communities 2, rue Mercier L-2985 Luxembourg Tel. (352) 29 29-42455 Fax (352) 29 29-424758 Fax (352) 29 29-424758

E-mail: info-info-opoce@cec.eu.int URL: publications.eu.int

2/2002

About the EMCDDA

The European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA) is one of 12 decentralised agencies set up by the European Union to carry out specialised technical or scientific work.

Established in 1993 and operational since 1995, the Centre's main goal is to provide objective, reliable and comparable information at European level concerning drugs and drug addiction and their consequences. Through the statistical, documentary and technical information it gathers, analyses and disseminates, the EMCDDA provides its audience — whether policy-makers, practitioners in the drugs field or European citizens with an overall picture of the drug phenomenon in Europe.

The Centre's main tasks are:

- collecting and analysing existing data;
- improving data-comparison methods;
- disseminating information; and
- cooperating with European and international organisations and with non-EU countries.

The EMCDDA works exclusively in the field of information.

The EMCDDA online

An online, interactive version of the 2002 Annual report is also available at http://annualreport.emcdda.eu.int in 12 languages. This version provides links to data sources, reports and background documents used in assembling this report.

Detailed information on drug use in Europe, downloadable publications in the 11 official EU languages and Norwegian, links to specialised druginformation centres in Europe and beyond, and free access to specialised databases can all be found on the EMCDDA web site (http://www.emcdda.eu.int).



OFFICE FOR OFFICIAL PUBLICATIONS OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES

L-2985 Luxembourg

